

MOLECOLARE E BIOTECNOLOGIE

CICLO XXIV

COORDINATORE Prof. Bernardi Francesco

Regulation of adenovirus replication by miR-199 confers a selective oncolytic activity in hepatocellular carcinoma

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare Bio/19

Dottorando

Tutore

Dott. Khalid Elamin Elhag Baha Eldin

Prof. Sabbioni Silvia

Anni 2009/2011

Abstract

Oncolytic virotherapy represents a growing field of experimental cancer therapy. For safe and effective virotherapy, restricted tissue expression and replication of the virus is desirable. Various methods have been developed to achieve such restricted expression. They included the engineering of viral genomes through the insertion of tissue-specific promoters or genes encoding for tissue specific binding proteins. Here, we employed a new approach based on the use of microRNAs (miRNAs) to achieve tumor-specific viral expression and replication. miRNAs are approximately 22-nucleotide (nt)- long non-coding RNAs that are able to bind the 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of homologous target mRNAs and causing either their degradation or translation inhibition. Since miRNA are differentially expressed in cancer versus normal cells, it is theoretically possible to make virus expression restricted to cancer cells in a miRNA-dependent manner.

Several studies have shown that miR-199 is significantly down-regulated in primary hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tissue and HCC cell lines. With this notion in mind, we developed a conditionally replication-competent oncolytic adenovirus, Ad-199T, by introducing four copies of miR-199 target sites within the 3' UTR of the E1A gene, which is essential for adenovirus replication.

In vitro studies of the properties of Ad-199T virus revealed that E1A expression was indeed tightly regulated both at RNA and protein levels depending upon the expression of miR-199. Consequently, Ad-199T could replicate in the HCC derived cells HepG2, negative for miR-199 expression, while its replication was strictly controlled in HepG2-199 cells, which were engineered to express high level of miR-199. A replication-competent miRNA independent Ad-Control was also generated,. Thus, these *in vitro* studies proved that cytotoxicity of Ad-199T was effective in HCC derived cells, which lacks expression of miR-199, and could be successfully controlled in cells that express miR-199 at high level.

To assess *in vivo* properties of Ad-199T, we tested an orthotopic tumor model. HepG2 cells were implanted in the liver of newborn B6D2 mice. The cells could survive at least one week in this environment, enough for testing *in vivo* properties of Ad-199T. These studies revealed that intrahepatic delivery of Ad-199T led to virus replication in HepG2 derived xenograft tumors and a faster removal of cancer cells. Conversely, Ad-199T replication was not detected in normal, miR-199 positive, liver parenchyma.

These results demonstrate that Ad-199T is a conditionally replicative adenovirus (CRAd) miR-199 dependent, with antitumor activity *in vivo*. This system allows replication of the oncolytic virus in HCC cells and, at the same time, tightly control replication in normal liver tissues, thus avoiding or reducing hepatotoxicity.

Riassunto

L'uso di virus oncolitici per il trattamento del cancro rappresenta un settore sperimentale in continua crescita. Ai fini di garantire l'efficacia e la sicurezza della terapia con virus oncolitici è necessaria un'espressione e una replicazione del virus limitata ai tessuti bersaglio di terapia. Sono stati sviluppati diversi metodi che garantiscono l'espressione limitata desiderata, tra cui manipolazione dei genomi virali attraverso l'inserimento di promotori tessuto-specifici o di geni che codificano per recettori tessuto-specifici. In questo studio abbiamo seguito un nuovo approccio basato sull'uso di microRNA (miRNA) per ottenere l'espressione e la replicazione virale tumore-specifica. I miRNA sono RNA non codificanti lunghi approssimativamente 22-nucleotidi (nt) in grado di legare le regioni 3' non tradotte (UTR) di mRNA bersaglio omologhi, provocandone la degradazione o inibendone la traduzione. Poiché l'espressione dei miRNA nelle cellule tumorali è diversa da quella in cellule normali, teoricamente è possibile limitare l'espressione del virus alle cellule tumorali in maniera miRNA- dipendente.

Diversi studi hanno dimostrato che il miR-199 è significativamente sotto-espresso nei tumori primari e nelle linee cellulari derivate da epatocarcinoma (HCC). Partendo da tale presupposto abbiamo sviluppato un adenovirus oncolitico replicativo condizionale, Ad-199T, introducendo quattro copie di siti bersaglio del miR-199 nella regione 3' UTR del gene E1A, essenziale alla replicazione virale.

Studi *in vitro* delle proprietà del virus Ad-199T hanno mostrato che l'espressione di E1A era effettivamente strettamente regolata, sia a livello di RNA che a livello di proteina, a seconda dell'espressione del miR-199. Pertanto la replicazione di Ad-199T risultava possibile nelle cellule HepG2 derivate da HCC, negative per l'espressione del miR-199, mentre la replicazione era strettamente controllata nelle cellule HepG2-199, manipolate per esprime livelli elevate di miR-199. È stato inoltre generato il virus Ad-Control, competente per la replicazione in maniera indipendente dal miRNA. Pertanto, gli studi *in vitro* hanno dimostrato che la citotossicità dell' Ad-199T è efficace nelle cellule derivate da HCC, che non hanno espressione del miR-199, e poteva essere controllata in cellule che presentano un alto livello di espressione del miR-199.

Al fine di stabilire le proprietà *in vivo* dell' Ad-199T, abbiamo testato un modello di tumore con sede epatica. Cellule HepG2 sono state impiantate nel fegato di topi neonati B6D2. Le cellule sono sopravvissute almeno una settimana in questo ambiente, cioè un lasso di tempo sufficiente per

testare *in vivo* le proprietà dell' Ad-199T. Questi studi hanno dimostrato che l'iniezione intraepatica di Ad-199T portava alla replicazione del virus nei tumori trapiantati derivati da HepG2 e consentiva la rapida rimozione delle cellule tumorali. Per contro, non è stata riscontrata replicazione di Ad-199T in parenchima epatico normale, positivo al miR-199.

I risultati provano quindi che Ad-199T è un adenovirus replicativo condizionale (CRAd), dipendente da miR-199, con attività antitumorale *in vivo*. Questo metodo consente la replicazione del virus oncolitico in cellule HCC, riducendo o evitando allo stesso tempo l'epatotossicità.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

My deepest appreciation to Professor Massimo Negrini, Group leader, for his full support, untiring guidance, stimulating discussions, and constant encouragement.

I also want to give my heartfelt gratitude to my supervisor Professor. Silvia Sabbioni, for the patient guidance, encouragement and inspiring advice she has provided throughout my time as her student. I have been extremely lucky to have a supervisor who cared so much about my work.

My heartfelt appreciation dedicates to Dr. Elisa Cagllegari for her exceptional kindness, persistent guidance and unconditional help to make my project a success. Without her help the thesis would not be done so smoothly.

I would also like to express my appreciation to Dr. Laura Lupini, Miss. Lucilla D'Abundo, Dr. Manuela Ferracin, Dr. Elene Miotto, Dr. Barbara Zagatti, Mr. Fabio Corra', Miss. Elene Saccenti, Mr. Cristian Bassi, Mrs. Farzaneh Moshiri and everybody in our group for their technical advice, invaluable discussions, and more importantly, their friendship.

My sincere thanks also goes to Mr. Giuseppe Sarti, director of Institute Don Calabria and all people there for their support and kindness.

To Azza, you have been there for me since the beginning of this journey and your love, encouragement, patience and support has kept me going through the good times and the bad. You have never stopped believing in me, and for that I cannot thank you enough.

And finally and by no means the least thanks to my father and family for all their support.

DEDICATION

 $\mathcal D$ dedicate this thesis

• To My Mother ..

the only person that more happy to my success. Be proud of your children. May her soul rest in peace in paradise....

• To my children .. Yosif and Ahmed for making everything worthwhile. Baha

Contents

Abstract English		Ι
Abstract Italian		III
Acknowledgment		V
Dedication		VI
Contents		VII
List of Figures		IX
List of Tables		X
List of abbreviation	ns	XI
1. Introducti	ion	1
1.1 Liver	cancer	1
1.2 Viroth	nerapy	2
1.2.1	Mechanisms of tumor selectivity	3
1.3 Aden	ovirus	5
1.3.1	Adenovirus Structure and Live Cycle	5
1.3.2	Adenovirus Transcription and Replication	7
1.4 Aden	ovirus Vectors	9
1.4.1	First generation vectors	9
1.4.2	Second generation vectors	10
1.4.3	Third generation vectors	11
1.4.4	Conditionally replicating adenoviruses (CRAds)	12
1.5 Devel	opment of targeted adenoviruses	12
1.5.1	Transductional targeting	13
1.5.2	Transcriptional targeting	13
1.6 Micro	oRNAs	13
1.6.1	MicroRNAs and hepatocellular carcinoma	14
1.6.2	microRNA 199	16
1.6.3	Post-transcriptional targeting of viral vectors' replication	18

2.	. Aims				
3.	3. Materials and Methods				
	3.1 Plasmids				
	3.2 Cell lines	24			
	3.3 Production of the recombinant Adenovirus	24			
	3.4 E1A DNA analysis by Real-Time PCR	26			
	3.5 E1A expression analysis by Real-Time PCR	26			
	3.6 E1A protein analysis.	27			
	3.7 In vivo experiments	27			
	3.8 In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS).	27			
	3.9 Tables	28			
	3.10 Statistical analysis	29			
4.	Results	30			
	4.1 Design and construction of Adenoviral vectors	30			
	4.1.1 Construction of the "starting vector" pGEM_E1A/E1B	31			
	4.1.2 Construction of the "intermediate vector" pENTR_IRES/EGFP	32			
	4.1.3 Construction of the "Control entry vector" pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP	33			
	4.1.4 Construction of the "Entry vector" pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP	34			
	4.1.5 Construction of final Adenoviral vectors	36			
	4.1.5.1 Construction of pAd-Control vector	37			
	4.1.5.2 Construction of pAd-199T vector	38			
	4.1.6 Production of Adenoviruses	39			
	4.2 Viral replication of Ad-199T is microRNA-dependent <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>	40			
	4.3 Ad-199T can eliminate tumor cells with the same efficiency of Ad-Control virus	44			
5.	Discussion	49			
	References	53			

VIII

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1	Concept of oncolysis 3			
FIGURE 1.2	Schematic diagram of the Ad5 virion			
FIGURE 1.3	Adenoviral replication cycle			
FIGURE 1.4	Schematic representation of adenovirus genome			
FIGURE 1.5	Down-regulation of miR-122 and miR-199 in HCC	17		
FIGURE 1.6	Schematic genome structures of attenuated viruses	18		
FIGURE 3.1	Map of pShuttle E1A_E1B Vector	21		
FIGURE 3.2	Map of pGEMT Vector	21		
FIGURE 3.3	Map of pENTR 11 Vector	22		
FIGURE 3.4	4 Map of pIRES 2 EGFP Vector			
FIGURE 3.5	Map of pGl3_miR199 Vector			
FIGURE 3.6	Map of pAd/CMV/V5-Dest Vector			
FIGURE 3.7	Virus production	25		
FIGURE 4.1	Vectors construction strategy	30		
FIGURE 4.2	Construction of the "starting vector" pGEM_E1A/E1B	32		
FIGURE 4.3	3 Construction of the pENTR_IRES/EGFP "intermediate" vector			
FIGURE 4.4	4 Construction of pENTR_E1A/E1B_IRES EGFP			
FIGURE 4.5	Construction of pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP	35		
FIGURE 4.6	Adenovirus type 5 genome and recombinant adenoviruses	36		
FIGURE 4.7	7 Construction of pAd-Control			
FIGURE 4.8	Construction of pAd-199T	38		

FIGURE 4.9	Characterization of pAd-199T and pAd-Control	39
FIGURE 4.10	Ad-199T and Ad-Control replicate in HepG2 cells	40
FIGURE 4.11	miR-199 controls Ad-199T replication in vitro	41
FIGURE 4.12	miR-199 regulates Ad-199T replication through E1A modulation	42
FIGURE 4.13	miR-199 controls E1A expression of Ad-199T	43
FIGURE 4.14	miR-199 controls Ad-199T replication in normal liver cells	44
FIGURE 4.15	Ad-199T replicate in tumor cells in vivo	46
FIGURE 4.16	Reduction in bioluminescence intensity indicates reduction of tumor masses	47
FIGURE 4.17	Differential replication of Ad-199T in normal liver versus tumor cells	48

List of Tables

Table 1	Adenovirus gene products and their functions 9		
Table 1	2 Published miRNA gene expression studies in HCC	15	
Table 1	3 miRNAs most commonly aberrantly expressed in HCC	16	
Table 3	1 List of the primers used in cloning steps, sequencing reactions and Real-Time PCR.	28	

List of abbreviation

<	Less-than sign		
μg	Microgram		
Ad	Adenovirus		
ADP	Adenoviral death protein		
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome		
bp	Base pairs		
CAR	Coxsackie- Adenovirus Receptor		
cDNAs	Complementary DNAs		
cm	Centimeter		
CMV	Cytomegalovirus		
CPE	Cytopathic effect		
CRAds	Conditionally replicating adenoviruses		
CsCl	Cesium Chloride		
Ct	Threshold cycle		
CVA21	Coxsackievirus A21 gene		
DDR1	Discoidin Domain Receptor		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease		
E. coli	Escherichia coli		
E1A	Adenoviral E1A gene		
E1B	Adenoviral E1B gene		
E2	Adenoviral E2 gene		
E3	Adenoviral E3 gene		
E4	Adenoviral E4 gene		
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor		
EGFP	Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein		
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor		
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum		
gH gene	Viral glycoprotein H gene		
h	Hour (s)		
HRV	Henatitis B Virus		
HCC	Henatocellular carcinoma		
HCV	Henatitis C Virus		
HenG?	Cells line derived from human HCC		
Hepluc	HenG2 derived cells line constitutively expressing Luciferase		
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α		
HSV-1	Hernes Simplex Virus 1		
HSV-Tk	Hernes Simplex tymidine kinase		
IFN	Interferon		
IMDM	Dulbecco's Modified Iscove's Medium		
IDES	Internal ribosomal entry site		
ITRe	Inverted terminal repeate		
	Intermediate viral gene in adapavirus		
	Internetiate vital gene in adenovirus		
1 V 15	In vivo imaging System		

IX	Intermediate viral gene in adenovirus
kb	kilobase (s)
Kg	kilogram (s)
L1-L5	Late viral genes in adenovirus
LCSOV	Liver-cancer-specific oncolytic virus
mg	Milligramme (s)
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
min	Minute(s)
miRNAs	MicroRNAs
ml	Milliliter(s)
mRNA	Messenger RNA
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MV	Measles Virus
ng	Nanogram
nt	Nucleotide
OLT	Orthotopic liver transplantation
ORF	Open Reading Frame
pAd DEST	pAd/CMV/V5-Dest
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDGFR-beta	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta
qRTPCR	quantitative Real-Time PCR
RIPA	Radio Immuno Precipitation Assay
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Rounds per minute
S	Second(s)
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
T199	Target sequence responsive to miR-199
TACE	Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor α
TP53	Tumor suppressor protein
ul	Microlitre
UTRs	Untranslated regions
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
VGF	Vaccinia growth factor
vp	Viral particles
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus
wtAd5	Wild type adenovirus serotype 5

1. INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a major cause of death globally. Although treatments have improved significantly in the last decades, conventional chemotherapy or radiotherapy still have limited effects against many forms of cancer, not to mention a plethora of treatment-related side effects. This situation means that novel more effective and less toxic therapeutic strategies are needed. To address these issues, numerous attempts are underway. All these are driven by an improved understanding of the molecular basis of cancer. The identification of tyrosine-kinases activated in cancer led to the development of several targeted drugs, either small molecules or antibodies, that are presently clinically employed as anti-cancer therapeutics.

1.1 Liver Cancer

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one of those human cancer where therapy is often ineffective. HCC accounts for 85–90 % of all primary liver cancers. It ranks as the fifth most prevalent malignancy worldwide and the third leading cause of death (1). The development and progression of HCC is typical of a multistage process. The transformation begins in the liver tissue undergoing chronic hepatitis or cirrhosis caused by external stimuli (hepatitis B virus (HBV) or HCV infection, intake of aflatoxin B1, or alcohol abuse), progresses through a series of hyperplastic and dysplastic stages, and ultimately acquires the malignant phenotype with intrahepatic metastasis and distal dissemination (2).

Treatment is tailored on the basis of the extent of tumor burden, liver function, physical status and potential treatment efficacy. In very early and early stage HCC, potential curative treatments are available. They include surgical resection, percutaneous ablation and liver transplantation. However, only about 30-40% of cirrhotic patients enrolled in surveillance programs are eligible for these types of intervention (3) and, even after a curative treatment, the recurrence rate approaches 70% at 5 years. In advanced HCC, treatment options are even more limited: curative treatments are not available and traditional chemotherapy proved to be only marginally effective or even toxic in either adjuvant or neo-adjuvant settings. The introduction of sorafenib, a multikinase inhibitor, in the treatment of advanced HCC produced an average three months increase in overall survival, but was associated with a significant toxicity. The identification of new possible targets for the development of non conventional treatments is still needed and will necessarily take advantage of progresses in the comprehension of the molecular pathogenesis of HCC (4)

1.2 Virotherapy

Virotherapy is an experimental approach to treat cancer. It utilizes genetically engineered viruses for selective infection and killing of tumor cells while leaving normal cells relatively unharmed.

The ability of viruses to kill cancer cells has been recognized for more than a century (5). They achieve this by a number of mechanisms, including direct lysis, apoptosis, expression of toxic proteins, autophagy and shut-down of protein synthesis, as well as the induction of anti-tumoral immunity. The origin of oncolytic virotherapy comes from rare anecdotal reports of cancer patients who experience a temporary remission after contracting a viral infection. These cases usually involve patients with hematologic malignancies, associated immunosuppression and a subsequent naturally acquired infection such as influenza, chicken pox or measles. The obvious hypothesis followed that optimized intentional viral inoculation could be a cure for cancer.

Clinical trials of several naturally-occurring oncolytic viruses were started back in the 1950s. Early work in the area was greatly affected from a lack of standardization of study protocols (6). As example, clinical trials were conducted using serum from viremic blood donors (7, 8). In spite of these challenges, some of these early clinical studies established transient responses with only a few mild side effects and suggested the potentiality of oncolytic virotherapy (9, 10).

The renaissance of this field in recent years came from advances in knowledge about the interactions between virus and host at the molecular level, combined with the possibility of genetic engineering of the viruses. Viral oncolysis (also termed virotherapy) has been studied intensively over the past two decades to develop a new strategy for cancer therapy (11) Development of different viruses based on differences in their natural tropism, catalytic properties, pathogenicity, and opportunities for genetic engineering, has been investigated (12, 13) Many different viruses have been investigated for their potential use as virotherapy agents, including influenza (14), Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV-1) (15, 16), Semliki Forest Virus (17), Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV) (18), Adenovirus (19), Vaccinia Virus (20), Coxsackie Virus (21), Measles Virus (22) and Poliovirus (23). The potential of oncolytic virus is no longer limited by the properties of the viruses in nature. Due to the application of the accumulated knowledge in the fields of virology, immunology and cancer, new oncolytic viruses were engineered to overcome limits related to efficacy and safety of these therapeutic agent.

1.2.1 Mechanisms of tumor selectivity

The term 'oncolytic viruses' applies to viruses that are able to replicate specifically in and destroy tumor cells, and this property is either inherent or genetically-engineered. When used as anticancer drugs, viruses must meet strict criteria for safety, efficacy and accessibility to pharmacological study in human subjects. Specificity for cancer tissues is the key to safety, and this goal can be achieved through strategies that take advantage by tumor-specific changes of cancer versus normal cell (**Figure 1.1**).



Figure 1.1 Concept of oncolysis. Oncolytic viruses are derived from human viruses via genetic modifications. Such modifications include the mutation or deletion of viral genes, or the insertion of tumor-specific promoters. Oncolytic adenoviruses infect tumor cells, replicate their genome, assemble new viral particles and kill the host tumor cell by lysis, resulting in the release of the progeny viruses. This new virus generation spreads, and starts a new cycle of virus replication and tumor cell killing. Infection of normal cells by oncolytic viruses and/or replication within these cells is impaired. Thus, an ideal oncolytic virus represents an efficient and specific anti-cancer agent.

Inherently tumor-selective viruses can specifically target cancer by exploiting the very same cellular aberrations that occur in these cells, such as surface attachment receptors, activated Ras and Akt, and the defective interferon (IFN) pathway.

Transcriptional and transductional targeting are presently the two main strategies to selectively restrict recombinant adenovirus activity to tumor cells. Transcriptional targeting is mainly achieved by replacing an endogenous viral promoter sequence, e.g., the adenovirus E1A promoter, with a mammalian tumor- or tissue-specific promoter (24, 25) This strategy restricts virus replication to target cells where the promoter is active. Transductional targeting concerns genetic or chemical alteration of capsid proteins for selective infection of tumor cells (24, 25).

Some viruses have been engineered with specific gene deletion; these genes are crucial for the survival of viruses in normal cells but nonessential in cancer cells. Deletion of the gene that encodes thymidine kinase, an enzyme needed for nucleic acid metabolism, results in dependence of viruses such as HSV and Vaccinia Virus on cellular thymidine kinase expression, which is high in proliferating cancer cells but not in normal cells. Vaccinia also produces the vaccinia growth factor (VGF) that binds to and activates the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), creating an environment that supports its replication. It follows that deletion of genes encoding for both thymidine kinase and VGF leads to further selectivity of vaccinia virus in cancers with an activated EGFR-Ras pathway (26).

Another approach in conferring tumor selectivity is to restrict virus replication by its dependence on transcriptional activities that are constitutively activated in tumor cells. This can be achieved by the insertion of a tumor-specific promoter driving the expression of a critical gene (27-33) Others viruses either possess naturally (e.g., Coxsackievirus A21 (34) and Measles Virus (35) or have been designed to have specific tropism based on the expression of cell surface receptors unique to cancer cells (36-42).

Oncolytic adenoviruses (Ad) are genetically engineered Ads which can kill tumor cells by tumor cell-specific replication (43, 44).

Various types of oncolytic Ads have been developed, and can be mainly classified into 2 groups. One type of oncolytic Ads show tumor-selective replication via deletion of certain genes, such as the E1B-55K gene, which are dispensable for the replication of Ads in tumor cells. The other type of oncolytic Ads possess an E1 gene expression cassette driven by tumor-specific promoters. Various types of tumor-specific promoters are used in oncolytic Ads, including the a-fetoprotein promoter (45) , prostate-specific antigen promoter (46) , osteocalcin promoters (47) and cyclooxygenase-2 promoter (48).

1.3 Adenovirus

Adenoviruses are common opportunistic pathogens rarely associated with severe clinical symptoms in healthy adults (49). Adenoviruses are known to infect humans via the respiratory, the fecal-oral, or the ocular conjunctival routes (50). Illnesses are generally mild in immunocompetent humans, but can spread and cause potentially life-threatening disease in patients with compromised immunity, such as AIDS patients and transplant recipients (50). Adenoviruses belong to the family of Adenoviridae, which is subdivided into four genera (Siadenovirus, Aviadenovirus, Atadenovirus, and Mastadenovirus) (51). All human adenoviruses belong to the genera Mastadenovirus. There are 51 different serotypes of adenoviruses that were originally classified depending on the ability of different animal sera to neutralize them (52). They can be further divided into six different subgroup, A-F, based on their ability to agglutinate erythrocytes of different species and their oncogenicity on rodents. Ad5 from subgroup C is the most widely studied adenovirus, and is the serotype mainly discussed in this thesis.

1.3.1 Adenovirus structure and life cycle

Adenoviruses are non-enveloped viruses 70-90 nm in diameter with an icosahedral capsid. Their genome is linear, double stranded DNA varying between 25-45 kilobases in size with inverted terminal repeats (ITRs) at both termini and a terminal protein attached to the 5'ends (53, 54). The icosahedral capsid is formed by three major proteins, of which the hexon trimers are most abundant (**Figure 1.2**) (55). Each of the twelve vertices of the capsid also contains a pentameric protein, a penton base that is covalently attached to the fiber. The fiber is a trimeric protein that protrudes from the penton base and is a knobbed rod-like structure (56). Other viral proteins such as IIIa, VIII, and IX are also associated with the viral capsid (57). All human adenoviruses have similarities in their fiber architecture. Each has an N-terminal tail, a shaft with repeating sequences, and a C-terminal knob domain with a globular structure (56). The knob domain is mainly responsible for binding the target cellular receptor and its globular structure presents a large surface for lateral and apical binding. The fiber proteins of adenoviruses from different subgroups most distinctively differ in length and ability to bend.



Figure 1.2 Schematic diagram of the Ad5 virion. Adenoviruses are non-enveloped particles of 70-90 nm in diameter with an inner nucleoprotein core. The double stranded DNA is packaged within an icosahedral protein capsid. The major protein of the capsid is the trimeric hexon that constitutes the 20 triangular faces of the icosahedron. Penton capsomeres, formed by the protein of the penton base and fiber, are localized at each of the 12 vertices of the Ad capsid and to which the 12 protruding fiber homotrimers attach (origin: http://biomarker.cdc.go.kr:8080/index.jsp)

Adenovirus trafficking can be characterized by five stages: binding, entry, escape, translocation, and nuclear transport (58). Initially the fiber knob binds a primary receptor with high affinity and once the virus is tethered on the cell surface, low affinity binding to secondary receptors leads to internalization (59). Adenoviruses enter cells via dynamin dependent chlatrin-mediated endocytosis (60). Escape from the endosome into the cytosol occurs within minutes and is dependent on the acidification of the endosome (58). Acidification triggers changes in the adenoviral capsid resulting in the lysis of the endosome membrane. Once in the cytosol, adenoviral capsids translocate towards the nucleus along the microtubules by interacting with cellular molecular motors, such as cytoplasmic dynein (61). Thereafter, the adenoviral genome is transported inside the nucleus via nuclear pores (**Figure 1.3**) (62, 63).



Figure 1.3 Adenoviral replication cycle. Viruses first attach to the coxsackie- adenovirus receptor (CAR) followed by an interaction with cellular integrins resulting in internalization of the virus via receptor- mediated endocytosis. In the endosomes, the viral genome is released from the viral capsid and thereafter transported into the nucleus for DNA replication. Structural viral proteins assemble together with viral genomes in the nucleus followed by cell lysis and release of newly synthesized virions.

1.3.2 Adenovirus transcription and replication

Adenoviruses are dependent on the cellular machinery to replicate the viral genome (64). The adenoviral genome can be divided into immediate early (E1A), early (E1B, E2, E3, E4), intermediate (IX, Iva), and late (L1-L5) genes (**Figure 1.4**) (54). Adenoviral transcription can be described as a two-phase-event, early and late, characterized by the expression of different viral genes and separated by the onset of viral DNA replication (52). The first transcription unit to be expressed is the E1A. The E1A proteins stimulate the transcription of other early genes and modulate the expression of cellular genes involved in the transition into S-phase, making the cell more susceptible to viral DNA replication (65-67). The E1B proteins suppress cell death elicited in response to unregulated cell proliferation signals, including those mediated by E1A (64). The E2 gene products provide the replication machinery for viral gene products. E3 gene products are not essential for virus replication *in vitro*, but are dedicated to the control of various host immune

responses (68). E3-gp19K inhibits the transport of the class 1 major histocompatibility complex (MHC) from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the plasma membrane, thereby preventing the presentation of peptides to T lymphocytes by MHC (69, 70). Other E3 proteins inhibit apoptosis elicited by various cellular proteins such as the tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) (71). As an exception, E3 derived adenoviral death protein (ADP) functions late in the viral cycle to promote cell death, presumably to aid in the release of the virus after all the replicative functions have been completed (72).



E4 gene products have been implicated in many events that occur as the late program begins. E4 proteins augment viral DNA synthesis and messenger RNA (mRNA) transport, late viral gene expression, shutoff of host protein synthesis, and production of progeny virions (73-76). The late gene transcription leads to the production of viral structural components and the encapsidation and maturation of the viral particles in the nucleus.

 Table 1.1
 Adenovirus gene products and their functions

Phase	Gene	Products and their function			
	E1A	Inactivates pRB to release E2F - cell cycle deregulation Transactivates viral promoters			
	E1B	55kD targets p53 and participate in transport of late viral mRNA 19kD is a Bcl-2 homologue - anti-apoptotic			
	E2A	Pre terminal protein (pTP) and DNA polymerase (pol) - DNA replication			
	E2B	Single-strand DNA binding protein (DBP) - DNA replication			
early	E3	gp19kD inhibits MHC I expression 10.4kD/14.5kD (RID complex) inhibits tumor necrosis factor (TNF) apoptosis, internalizes TNF receptor and degrades Fas ligand 14.7kD inhibits TNF apoptosis, stabilized NFκB 11.6kD (ADP) induces cell lysis			
	E4	Products: orf1, orf2, orf3, orf4, orf6 and orf6/7 modulate viral mRNA metabolism, promote virus DNA replication and block host protein synthesis			
	IVa2	Initiate the major late promoter (MLP), which regulates late IX genes			
intermediate	IX	Initiate the major late promoter (MLP), which regulates late IX genes			
intermediate	VAI	Non-coding RNA that stimulates translation of viral genes and blocks double stranded RNA activated protein kinase R (PKR) during interferon response			
	VAII	Non-coding RNA that blocks PKR during interferon response			
lateL1-L5Structural proteins: L1 (IIIa); L2 (penton base, V, VII); L3 (hexon, VI, virus protease); L4 (VIII); L5 (fiber)		Structural proteins: L1 (IIIa); L2 (penton base, V, VII); L3 (hexon, VI, virus protease); L4 (VIII); L5 (fiber)			

1.4 Adenovirus vectors

Adenoviruses represent 25% of vectors used in the clinical trials (77). Some of the reasons behind its popularity are related to the ability to produce the virus at high titer, to infect both dividing and non-dividing cells and to drive a high expression level of the transgene. Moreover, the adenovirus biology is well known and the methods to manipulate the adenoviral genome are relatively easy to perform. The use of adenovirus vectors started with the development of first generation vectors, soon followed by the second and third generation vectors as well as the conditionally replicating adenoviruses (CRAD).

1.4.1 First generation vectors

First generation adenovirus vectors are replication deficient vectors deleted in their E1 genes. They can be produced in cell lines that trans-complement the E1 genes and the most commonly used cells

are the 293 cells (78). These vectors are often deleted also in the E3 region allowing a total insertion size of 6.5-8 kb. Production of the E1-deleted first generation vectors is easy and the recombinant viruses can target a high expression of the transgene in a wide range of cells. In spite of the fact that the efficacy of these vectors is very good *in vitro*, the results have often been disappointing *in vivo*. First generation adenoviruses cannot be used for long term expression of the transgene, since the expression last for a maximum of a few months in immunocompetent individuals (79).

The reason for this is that the expression of viral genes in the E1-deleted vectors leads to immune stimulation. Further drawback of the first generation vectors is the risk of contamination with replication competent adenoviruses (80). Also there is risk that some of the viruses regenerate the E1 region by homologous recombination in the trans-complementing cell line. Beside, the vector can recombine to replication competent viruses if the transduced cell is infected by a wild type adenovirus. For some purposes, where a sustained transgene expression is not needed, the first generation vectors have had some success. Patients with malignant gliomas almost doubled the survival time when administered a first generation adenovirus vector expressing the gene for herpes simplex tymidine kinase (HSV-Tk) followed by administration of ganciclovir as compared to standard treatment with radiation (81). Another approach has been vaccination. First generation vectors have been successful used to induce a potent immune response against pathogens in an effective and rapid manner. For example, one administration of adenovirus vectors expressing the Ebola glycoprotein, induced 100% protection against a lethal dose of Ebola in non-human primates within four weeks, whereas a standard vaccine required at least six months and multiple boosts to reach protection (82). This evidence suggest the possible use of adenovirus-based vaccine in limiting epidemic spread using ring vaccination (82).

1.4.2 Second generation vectors

The second generation vectors have additional genes deleted, for example the E2 region. These are replication-deficient vectors, which are less likely to generate replication competent adenoviruses, but the problems associated with the first generation vectors are still seen *in vivo*. The E1-E4 deleted vectors showed reduced toxicity *in vivo*, produced less viral proteins and had an increased duration of transgene expression (83). However, there are conflicting data regarding the difference in the immune response and the duration of expression compared to the E1 deleted vectors (84).

Some studies indicate that deletion of the E4 region leads to transcriptional silencing of the vector construct (85, 86). The silencing was dependent on the promoter used as well as the tissue type transduced by the vector. The CMV promoter used for transgene expression was silenced in vectors lacking the E4 region, and further analysis showed that retention of the E4 ORF3 was needed to circumvent the gene silencing in murine lung and liver (87, 88).

1.4.3 Third generation vectors

The third generation of adenovirus vectors is the "gutless" adenoviral vectors, named also "high capacity vectors" or "helper dependent vectors". They are free of all viral genes, containing only the viral ITRs and packaging signal (89). This makes it possible to package up to 37 kb in the vector construct. The production of this vectors is more difficult than for the first generation vectors. Since the vector is free of all viral genes, these must be supplemented during the production. This is accomplished by co-infecting the producer cell line (i.e 293 cells) with an E1-deleted helper virus that can produce the proteins needed for particle assembly. Consequently, the gutless virus preparation is often contaminated with E1 deleted replication incompetent helper virus, although most of them can be separated from the gutless virus by equilibrium centrifugation in a CsCl gradient. More optimization of the method by a Cre-loxP system that delete the packaging signal from the helper virus has made it possible to produce gutless preparations with less than 0.1% contamination with helper virus (90). Adenovirus capsid usually contains a genome of about 36 kb. The gutless vector must therefore be of equivalent size to be properly encapsidated. The vector construct contains the transgene expression cassette and a non-coding "stuffer DNA". It has been shown that the nature of the stuffer DNA will influence the expression efficacy from the transgene cassette (91).

These vectors show reduced toxicity and a prolonged gene expression *in vivo*. The gene expression can be sustained for more than a year in baboons (92). Furthermore, approaches that will facilitate long term expression also in dividing cells by introduction of EBNA1 elements into the vector have been appraised (93). Gutless vectors are superior to first generation vectors regarding the duration of gene expression and reduced activation of T-cells cytotoxic after vector transduction. However, the adenovirus capsid can itself be toxic at high concentrations. The adenovirus capsid activates the innate immune response that can induce acute toxicity at high virus concentrations. Systemic injection of 5×10^{12} gutless virus particles/kg into a baboon caused mild and transient acute toxicity whereas 1×10^{13} virus particles/kg induced lethal acute toxicity (94).

1.4.4 Conditionally replicating adenoviruses (CRAds)

Replication incompetent adenovirus have been used clinically for tumor therapy, but the outcome has not been satisfactory. There has been some success for glioma therapy (81), although not all studies have been successful. One problem with the replication incompetent vectors is the poor spread form the site of injection (95). One way to approach this problem is to use conditionally replicating adenoviruses (CRAds). CRAds have been developed to specifically target tumor cells (96, 97).

Among these, there are adenoviruses with modifications that can replicate in p53 deficient tumors. TP53 gene is mutated in about 30% of primary glioblastomas and 65% of secondary glioblastomas. In lower grade gliomas the frequency is even higher (98). For efficient replication of the adenovirus genome, the cell is forced into S-phase by the E1A inactivation of the Rb protein. Forced induction of S-phase may trigger p53 dependent apoptosis and subsequent cessation of adenoviral replication. To prevent this apoptotic response, the E1B 55 kDa protein is necessary to inactivate the action of p53. Adenoviruses with deletions in the E1B 55 kDa have been produced, of which the best known is ONYX-015 (99). Hence, this E1B-deleted virus can replicate in p53-deficient tumor cells, but not in p53-wt normal cells. This virus showed cell lysis and anti-tumor activity also in human glioma cells with or without p53 mutation (100). About 100 patients, mostly with severe cancers, have been treated so far in clinical phases (phases I-III) using the ONYX-015, and the treatment is welltolerated at doses up to 2×10^{12} particles/patient irrespective of administration route (intratumoral, intraperitoneal, hepatic artery or intravenous administration) (101). The replication in the tumors is transient and is terminated within few days. The anti-tumor effect is synergistic when given in combination with chemotherapy. The combination therapy has shown success in the treatment of head and neck tumors (102).

1.5 Development of targeted adenoviruses

The efficacy and safety of the adenoviral vectors could be improved by targeting the vector to the chosen tissue. Different genetic engineering strategies to restrict viral replication to cancer cells have therefore been employed to minimize toxic side effects.

1.5.1 Transductional targeting

Transductional targeting includes modification of the capsid to direct the vector to a new receptor. Several strategies have been involved, for example the use of bispecific antibodies that bind to the viral capsid and a receptor of choice (e.g. EGF receptor that is often up regulated in tumors). This approach has been shown to ablate the natural tropism for the coxsackie- adenovirus receptor (CAR) and induce a specific binding and uptake through the bispecific antibody (103).

1.5.2 Transcriptional targeting

Transcriptional retargeting involves tissue specific promoters that only allow transcription of the transgene in the tissue of choice. Adenovirus vectors have the capacity to infect a wide range of cell types. For some purposes (e.g. cancer therapy with a toxic gene) it is not favorable to have expression in tissues other than the target organ. The transgene inserted into the vector is accompanied by a promoter of choice, and sometimes it is favorable to also include enhancer regions (104). Environmental signals such as stress, hypoxia or hormones can regulate the promoters response element located within the promoter region. When a cell becomes malignant, the expression of certain genes that normally show low or no expression can become upregulated. This can be exploited in the vector construct by regulating the transgene expression with the activated promoter. Tissue and tumor specific promoters and their use for gene therapy have been reviewed (105). The use of tumor or tissue-specific promoters is actually not so easy in practice. In some cases, the promoter loses specificity when out of its context into vector construct. In addition, these types of promoters are usually too weak to be of therapeutic benefit (106).

To overcome the limits described above, other strategies are currently been developed, based on improvement of vector design (107) and post-transcriptional targeting. The use of microRNA targeting is one of these and is the focus of the work of this thesis.

1.6 MicroRNAs

MicroRNAs are endogenous non-coding RNAs that have been identified as post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression (108). Today, the miRNA registry (miRBase) accounts for 18,226 miRNAs, among which 2154 are human (Release 18 November 2011) (109). Each miRNA can bind

to regions of homology that are often found within the 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of target mRNAs, resulting in mRNA degradation or translational inhibition. Identification of miRNA targets is crucial to understand of miRNA function and their role in disease pathogenesis.

1.6.1 MicroRNAs and hepatocellular carcinoma

Aberrant expression of miRNAs has been observed in a range of human diseases, which include cancer (110). In human cancer, miRNAs can function as oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes during tumor formation and progression (111).

An increasing number of reports have described the involvement of microRNAs (miRNAs) in HCC development and progression. Differences in miRNA expression between HCC and liver parenchyma could potentially be used for the development of novel therapeutic approaches. In hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) several deregulated miRNAs have been identified. Some of these have been associated with the clinico-pathological features of HCC, such as metastases, recurrence, and prognosis (112-114). Since the first publication of a miRNA gene expression profile in liver cancer by Murakami *et al.* in 2006, various studies on miRNA expression in HCCs have been reported (**Table 1.2**). While the predisposing risk factors and etiologies of HCCs were heterogeneous, the deregulation of some specific miRNAs was commonly identified in the published studies, suggesting their importance in liver carcinogenesis. Among these, the over-expression of miR-21, miR-221, miR-222, miR-224, miR-301, miR-500 and the under-expression of miR- 122, miR-125a, miR-139, miR-145, miR-150, miR-199a, miR-200b, miR-214, miR-223, miR-101 were reported by more than one publication. These miRNAs are listed in **Table 1.3**.

Year	Profiling Method	Main conclusions of the studies	Reference
2006	Microarray / Northern blot	Analysis of miRNA expression patterns in HCC and non-tumorous tissues: detection of dysregulated (miR-199a, miR-200a, miR-125a, miR-195 down-regulated; miR-18 and miR-224 up-regulated) miRNAs in HCC versus non-tumor liver tissues	(115)
2006	Microarray / Northern blot	Identification of miRNAs aberrantly expressed in HCCs occurring in male Fisher rats, fed with a diet deficient in folic acid, methionine, and choline. The down-regulation of miR-122 was associated with hepatocarcinogenesis.	(116)
2007	Microarray / Northern blot / qPCR	Demonstration that aberrant expression of miR-21 can contribute to HCC growth, migration, and invasion by modulation of PTEN and PTEN-dependent pathways.	(117)
2007	Microarray / Northern blot /qPCR	Analysis of miRNA expression patterns in human HCC and non-tumorous tissues. Demonstration that miR-122 is down-regulated in HCC and modulates cyclin G1 expression	(118)
2008	Microarray / Northern blot	miRNA expression profiles in 10 pairs of HCC and adjacent non-tumorous tissue from 10 patients without viral hepatitis: identified 40 miRNAs differentially expressed in HCC, whose expression may provide information on pathogenetic mechanisms involved in HCC.	(119)
2008	qPCR	Identification of aberrantly expressed miRNAs in HCC. miR-224, the most significantly up-regulated miRNA, was found to increase apoptotic cell death as well as proliferation and targets apoptosis inhibitor-5 (API-5).	(120)
2008	Microarray / qPCR	Demonstration that miR-221 is up-regulated in HCC compared to non-tumorous tissue; miR-221 can control the expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p27 and p57.	(121)
2008	qPCR	Study the association of MicroRNA Expression in Hepatocellular Carcinomas with Hepatitis Infection, Cirrhosis, and Patient Survival. Results show that Several miRNAs including miR-199a, miR-21, and miR-301 were differentially expressed in the tumor compared with adjacent benign liver.	(122)
2008	qPCR	Study of miRNA expression profile of HCV–associated HCC, a group of miRNAs are aberrantly expressed in primary liver tumors, miR-122, miR-100, and miR-10a were overexpressed whereas miR- 198 and miR-145 were up to 5-fold down-regulated in hepatic tumors compared to normal liver parenchyma.	(123)
2008	qPCR	Identification of distinct miRNA expression signatures according to malignancy, risk factors, and oncogene/tumor suppressor gene alterations.	(113)
2009	qPCR	Study reveals that diverse changes of miRNAs expression occur during liver development and miR-500 is an oncofetal miRNA relevant to the development of HCC.	(124)
2009	microarray/ Northern blot	Demonstrate an important role of miR-101 in the etiology of HCC and its potential use in cancer therapy.	(125)
2010	qPCR	The study identifies a group of miRNAs that discriminate tumors from adjacent cirrhotic liver tissue; it shows that miR-222, which is over-expressed, can induce AKT signaling	(126)
2011	Microarray / Northern blot / qPCR	The study demonstrates the role of miR-139 in Suppression Metastasis and Progression of Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Down-regulating Rho-Kinase 2	(127)

Table 1.2 Published miRNA gene expression studies in HCC

miRNA	Chrom. Location	Dysregulation	Reference
miR-26a	3p22	Decreased	(128, 129)
miR-101	1p31.3	Decreased	(125)
miR-122	18q21.3	Decreased	(113, 116-118)
miR-125a	19q13.3	Decreased	(115, 117)
miR-139	7p22.1	Decreased	(120, 122)
miR-150	9p24.3	Decreased	(118, 122)
miR-145	5q32	Decreased	(118, 120, 123)
miR-199a	1q24.3	Decreased	(115, 117, 118, 122)
miR-200b	1p36.33	Decreased	(118, 122)
miR-214	9p24.3	Decreased	(118, 120, 122)
miR-223	Xq12	Decreased	(118, 122)
miR-18	13q31	Increased	(115, 122)
miR-21	17q23.2	Increased	(113, 116, 117, 119, 120, 122, 123)
miR-221	Xp11.3	Increased	(117, 118, 122, 130)
miR-222	Xp11.3	Increased	(113, 117, 118, 126)
miR-224	Xq28.3	Increased	(113, 117, 120)
miR-301	17q23.2	Increased	(120, 122)
miR-500	Xp11.2	Increased	(124)

 Table 1.3 miRNAs most commonly aberrantly expressed in HCC

1.6.2 microRNA 199

Among down-regulated miRNAs, miR-199a-3p is processed from the precursor, hsa-miR-199a, and is down-regulated in several human cancers, including HCC (115, 117, 118, 122, 131, 132). It has been suggested that this miRNA can act as tumor suppressor because it can prevent cell invasion and metastasis by negatively regulating c-MET proto-oncogene and its downstream effector ERK2 (133). Its tumor suppressor function has been more recently strengthened because the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) was also shown to be a target of miR-199a-3p. The inhibitory role of this microRNA in mTOR pathway is able to modulate cell proliferation and the invasion capability (134). The other strand of the same precursor miR-199a, miR-199a-5p, was demonstrated by Shen Q *et al*, to target Discoidin Domain Receptor (DDR1) gene. DDR1 is a tyrosine kinase receptor that is over-expressed in several human cancers (135-139). A down-regulation of miR-199a-5p expression, reported in HCC patients, could promote tumor progression enhanced by DDR1 up-regulation (140). Interestingly, miR-199 was also involved in inflammatory reactions associated with alcoholic diseases, most of which are mediated by molecules of the hypoxia-associated pathway (141).

In this context, the expression of HIF-1 α mRNA (hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α) and its coregulated gene, ET-1, were shown to be targets of miR-199 (142), suggesting a new potential approach in the control of ethanol induced inflammation. MiR-199-a was also identified as having a target sequence in the internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) of HCV viral genome, highly conserved in all HCV genotypes (143). miR-199 was shown to have an anti-viral effect. Murakami *et al.* have shown that the inhibition of miR-199 activity by a specific AMO causes an increase of HCV replication, suggesting that this miRNA could negatively regulate the viral replication and proliferation (144). Recently, scientists found that miR-199a-3p may also play a role in regulation of HBV replication by targeting the HBV S protein coding region, the pre-S coding region and the ORF of HBV polymerase (145).

In summary, miR-199 is involved in various processes that become derailed in liver cancer in consequence of its stable down-modulation in cancer cells. In addition and notably, it also is involved in modulating the effects of HCC risk factors, such as the replication of hepatitis viruses or the effect of alcohol consumption (**Figure 1.5**).



Figure 1.5 Down-regulation of miR-122 and miR-199 in HCC. The diagram shows validated targets for miR-122, that include the genes for cyclin G1 (CCNG1), BCL2-like 2 (BCL-w) and disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain containing protein 10 and 17 (ADAM10 and ADAM17). It also shows targets of miR-199, the gene for mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR) and the met proto-oncogene (MET), which encodes for the hepatocyte growth factor tyrosine kinase receptor. The diagram also shows that miR-122 favors the replication of hepatitis C virus (HCV), while miR-199 exerts an inhibitory effect on both hepatitis B (HBV) and HCV viruses, which are one of the principal risk factors for HCC development. The down- regulation of miR-122 and miR-199 in HCC sustains cell survival, proliferation and invasion.

1.6.3 Post-transcriptional targeting of viral vectors' replication

Differential expression of miRNA between cancer and normal tissue can be exploited as a novel strategy for the regulation of viral replication. The structures of attenuated viruses is shown in **Figure 1.6.**



Figure 1.6 Schematic genome structures of attenuated viruses. The localization of miRNA target insertion site in each virus is depicted (red arrow). In the case of Coxsackie virus A21 (CVA21), Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and adenovirus, 4-tandem repeat target sequences (red bars) were inserted. Asterisk indicates the most effective site for attenuation of VSV.

Brown *et al.* (146) were pioneers in developing viral vectors regulated by microRNAs. They developed lentiviral vectors with target sites for mir-142-3p and showed that transgene expression was effectively suppressed in cell types expressing this microRNA. Perez *et al.* successfully attenuated influenza A virus through the incorporation of species-specific, non-avian microRNA (miR-93) targets into nucleoproteins. The result was attenuated viral activity in mice, but not in eggs, as expected (147).Therefore, miRNA-mediated control of viral replication is a promising technology that can be used to safely attenuate virus for the production of live vaccines..

Taking advantage of tissue specificity of miRNAs, Kelly et al. inserted the target sequences of muscle-specific miRNAs (miR-133a and miR-206) in the 3 'UTR of coxsackievirus A21 gene (CVA21), a pathogenic picornavirus that causes lethal myositis and oncolysis in tumor-baring mice (21). The result was tissue-specific attenuation that allowed the virus to replicate well in muscle cells without being pathogenic. Inserting in the poliovirus, target sites for the neuron-specific miR-124a an attenuated poliovirus vaccine lacking any neurovirulence was developed (148).

Similar strategies were also applied to encephalitis caused by vesicular stomatitis virus through the insertion of miR-125 target sequences within the 3 'UTR of the viral polymerase gene (149).

The idea was further developed to evaluate the selectivity of oncolytic viruses by controlling unwanted replication in normal cells (21, 150, 151). This strategy was also used to inhibit adenoviral replication in normal liver cells to reduce the liver toxicity of systemic administration of oncolytic adenoviruses. The incorporation of the liver specific miR-122 target sites in the 3'-untranslated region- of E1A gene resulted in an adenovirus unable to replicate in liver, but full functional in any other cell or tissue (96, 97).

2. AIMS

Cancer is a major public health problem and new therapeutic approaches are needed. In fact, despite progresses in reducing mortality due to improvements in cancer prevention, early detection and treatments, still 6.7 million deaths worldwide are caused by cancer each year (152). Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the third cause of cancer-related death worldwide, it carries a very poor prognosis and requires more effective therapeutic approaches.

A promising approach is based on oncolytic virotherapy, which relies on the delivery and replication of viral vectors, which mediate the cytolysis of tumor target tissue. Adenoviruses are widely studied as oncolytic agents in cancer virotherapy (5, 153, 154).

Based on the observation that miR-199 is significantly down-regulated in HCC in comparison to normal liver, the aim of this work was: (1) to produce a conditionally replicative adenovirus (CRAD), miR-199-dependent, for the virotherapy of HCC; (2) to assess the miR-199-dependent viral replication *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays; (3) to test the in vivo oncolytic activity of the CRAD vector.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Plasmids



Figure 3.1 Map of pShuttle E1A_E1B Vector



Figure 3.2 Map of pGEMT Vector, Promega, Catalog number A3600



Figure 3.3 Map of pENTR 11 Vector, Invitrogen, Catalog number A10467



Figure 3.4 Map of pIRES 2 EGFP Vector, Clontech., Catalog number 6029-1


Figure 3.5 Map of pGl3_miR-199 Vector .



Figure 3.6 Map of pAd/CMV/V5-Dest Vector, Invitrogen, Catalog number V493-20

3.2 Cell lines

The hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 (ATCC HB-8065) was obtained from the America Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA). The human embryonal kidney cells, 293FT (R700-07), transformed with the SV40 large T antigen were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Cell lines were propagated and maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Iscove's Medium (IMDM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 0.1% Gentamycin and 1% L.Glutamine.

To produce stable clones expressing miR-199, HepG2 cells were transfected with $2\mu g$ of a miR-199 expressing plasmid, pIres-miR-199, using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Catalog No. 11668-027) according to manufacturer's instruction. In the same way, to produce stable clones expressing the *firefly* Luciferase reporter gene, HepG2 cells were transfected with 2 μg of a Luciferase expressing vector, pIres-Luc. After 24 hours the cell were harvested and diluted into T75 flask, then subjected to selection with 700 μg /ml G418 (Roche) for 2 weeks.

3.3 Production of the recombinant Adenovirus

The Gateway® technology is a universal cloning method that takes advantage of the site-specific recombination properties of bacteriophage lambda (155) to provide a rapid and highly efficient way to clone a gene of interest into an adenoviral vector. To generate the desired virus clone, an LR recombination reaction is performed between the entry clone and a Gateway® destination vector (Invitrogen, catalog No. V493-20). The attL x attR reaction is mediated by Gateway® LR ClonaseTM II enzyme mix (Invitrogen, catalog No. 11789100), which contains the bacteriophage lambda recombination proteins Int and Xis, the *E. coli* IHF. To perform the LR recombination reaction, 300 ng of entry clone and 300 ng of destination vector are mixed with the LR ClonaseTM II enzyme mix and incubated at 25° C overnight. Competent *E.Coli* are transformed with the product of the recombination reaction and plasmid DNA is purified with the QIAGEN Plasmid Mini Kit (Qiagen, catalog No. 12125).

PacI linearized plasmid DNA is transfected into HEK-293T cells by Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Catalog No. 11668-027). After 5 days the cells were harvested and subjected to three freeze-thaw cycles by freezing in 80°C and thawing in a 37 °C water bath to release the virus from the cells. For concentration of adenovirus particles, the protocol of SBI (system Biosciences, USA) using PEG-itTM Virus Precipitation Solution (SBI, catalog No. LV810A-1; LV825A-1) was used. The steps involved in virus production are summarized in **Figure 3.7**.

Titration of the virus was performed by quantitative Real-Time PCR (qRTPCR). Viral DNA was extracted using QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, catalog No. 51304) and quantified by qRT-PCR, using EVA Green (Biotium Inc, Hayward, CA, USA). All reactions were carried out in a 12.5 ul volume. Primers were as follows: wtAd5 F, 5' CGCATACGAGCAGACGGTGAAC-3'; wtAd5-R, 5'- GCACTATAAGGAACAGCTGCGCC -3'; 18s-F, 5'-AGCAGCCGCGGTAATTCCAGCT-3'; 18s-R 5'-CGGGACACTCAGCTAAGAGCATC-3'. PCR was performed by initial denaturation at 95°C for 15min followed by 40 cycles of 30s at 95°C, 30s at 58°C and 30s at 72°C. The threshold cycle (Ct) values of each sample were used in the post-PCR data analysis. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate. For the standard curve serial dilutions of purified WtAd5 DNA was generated.



Figure 3.7 Virus production. Diagram of the steps involved in virus production: LR recombination reaction between Destination and Entry Vectors; linearization of the final vector and transfection in 293 FT cells; precipitation of the virus with PEG-it

3.4 E1A DNA analysis by Real-Time PCR

To monitor viral replication, HepG2 and HepG2_199 cells were seeded in 24-well plates at a density of 7×10^4 cells/well, cultured for 24 h, and infected with Ad-199T or with Ad-Control at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1×10^7 pfu/cell. The infected cells were harvested 24 h, 48 h, 72 h, 96 h and 120 h after infection and total DNA was extracted with the QiAmp DNA extraction kit (Qiagen, Catalog No. 51304) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For quantitative viral DNA detection, 50 ng of DNA was used for the PCR reaction using EVA Green (Biotium Inc, Hayward, CA, USA). All reactions were carried out in a 12.5 ul volume. Primers were as follows: wtAd5-F, 5'-CGCATACGAGCAGACGGTGAAC-3'; 5'wtAd5-R, GCACTATAAGGAACAGCTGCGCC -3'; 18s F, 5'-AGCAGCCGCGGTAATTCCAGCT-3'; 18s R, 5'-CGGGACACTCAGCTAAGAGCATC-3'. PCR was performed by initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 min followed by 40 cycles of 30s at 95°C, 30s at 58°C and 30s at 72°C. The threshold cycle (Ct) values of each sample were used in the post-PCR data analysis. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate. Fluorescence measurements were completed using a Biorad-Chromo4 thermal cycler real-time PCR instrument.

3.5 E1A expression analysis by Real-Time PCR

Analysis of E1A gene expression was carried out using EVA Green-based real-time PCR detection. Total RNA was extracted from frozen liver tissues after homogenization, with Trizol® reagent (Invitrogen Catalog No. 15596-026) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 200 ng of purified RNA were retro-transcribed and 5 µl of cDNA was used for the PCR reaction using EVA Green (Biotium Inc, Hayward, CA, USA). All reactions were carried out in a 12.5 ul volume. Primers 5'-CGCATACGAGCAGACGGTGAAC-3'; 5'were as follows: wtAd5-F, wtAd5-R, GCACTATAAGGAACAGCTGCGCC -3'; 18s-F, 5'-AGCAGCCGCGGTAATTCCAGCT-3'; 18s-R, 5'-CGGGACACTCAGCTAAGAGCATC-3'. PCR was performed by initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 min followed by 40 cycles of 30s at 95°C, 30s at 58°C and 30s at 72°C. The threshold cycle (Ct) values of each sample were used in the post-PCR data analysis. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate. E1A expression levels were normalized against 18s housekeeping gene. Fluorescence measurements were completed using a Biorad-Chromo4 thermal cycler real-time PCR instrument.

3.6 E1A protein analysis.

To evaluate the expression of adenoviral E1A protein, HepG2 and HepG2-199 cells were seeded in 24-well plates at a density of 7×10^4 cells/well, cultured for 24 h, and infected with Ad-199T or with Ad-Control at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1×10^7 pfu/cell. Two days later, cells were harvested and lysed by using RIPA lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1% NP-40) with complete protease inhibitor cocktails (Sigma, St Louis, MO). Homogenates were then centrifuged at 13000 rpm for fifteen minutes at 4°C and supernatants were collected and analyzed by Western blot to assess E1A protein expression with a polyclonal anti-E1A antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Catalog No. sc-430) and a rabbit HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Catalog No. sc-2749) Signal was revealed with the LiteAblot Turbo Extra-Sensitive Chemiluminescent Substrate (Euroclone, catalog No. EMPO 12001). Digital images of autoradiographies were acquired with Fluor-S MultiImager and band signals were acquired in the linear range of the scanner using a specific densitometric software (Quantity One). After autoradiography acquisition, the membranes were reprobed for 1 h at room temperature with anti- β -tubulin polyclonal antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Catalog No. H-235, sc-9104) diluted 1:1000.

3.7 In vivo experiments

Animal protocol was approved by institutional ethical committee. The mice were mantained in a vented cabinet at 25°C with 12-hour light-dark cycle and provided food and water ad libitum. The mouse strain B6D2F2 is an intercross between B6D2F1 (C57Bl6/J x DBA/2J) animals. Three-days newborn mice received one intra-hepatical injection of 2×10^6 HepLuc cells re-suspended in 40 ul of PBS. The day after the animals were injected intra-hepatically with viruses. All mice were subjected to autopsy and livers were partly fixed in 10% formalin and partly frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tissues were collected at 24, 48 and 72 hours after the first viral injection. Total liver DNA was extracted using the QIAmp DNA Mini Kit, following the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Catalog No. 51304).

3.8 In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS).

In vivo bioluminescent imaging was performed with a ultra low noise, high sensitivity cooled CCD camera, mounted on a light tight imaging chamber (IVIS 100 SystemTM, Xenogen, Roissy, France).

Tracking, monitoring and quantification of signals were controlled by the acquisition and analysis software Living ImageH (Xenogen Corp, Alameda, CA). D-luciferin was injected intraperitoneally at a dose of 150 mg/kg body weight (30 mg/ml luciferin) to anesthetized (1–3% isoflurane) animals 15 minutes before image acquisition. Anesthetized mice were then placed in the IVISTM Imaging System and imaged. Three-four mice were imaged at each time. Regions of interest from displayed images were identified around the tumor sites and were quantified as total photon counts or photons/s using the Living ImageH software (Xenogen Corp., Alameda, CA).

3.9 Tables

The **Table 3.1** provides a list of the primers used in cloning steps, sequencing reactions and Real-Time PCR.

Name	Sequence	Annealing
		Temp
E1A-E1B-EcoRI- pShuttle-539-F	GAATTCCGCGCACCATGGTGTCGACG	64.0 °C
E1A-E1B-EcoRI-pShuttle-3569-R	GAATTCGCCACGCCCACACATTTCAGTACCTC	63.5 °C
E1A-E1B -1465-R	GATACATTCCACAGCCTGGC	56.0 °C
E1A-E1B-1325-F	CCCGACATCACCTGTGTCTA	56.2 °C
E1A-E1B-2358-R	GCTAGATTCCTAGCCTCCTCTG	56.2 °C
E1A-E1B-2233-F	ACCCTCGGGAATGAATGTTG	55.1 °C
E1A-E1B-3226-R	GCATTGGTAAGGTAGGAACACC	55.7 °C
E1A-E1B-3086-F	TCTCAGATGCTGACCTGCTC	56.5 °C
pGl3-MluI -1851 F	ACGCGT AGG TCT TAC CGG AAA ACT CG	54.4 °C
pGl3-MluI -2220-R	ACGCGT CCC CCT GAA CCT GAA ACA TA	54.3 °C
IRESEGFP-1061-F	TGGCTCTCCTCAAGCGTATT	56.0 °C
IRESEGFP-1863-R	TGCTCAGGTAGTGGTTGTCG	56.9 °C
pENTR11-F	CCAACTTTGTACAAAAAGC	51.0 °C
EGFP-1584-R	AAGTCGTGCTGCTTCATGTG	55.9 °C
18s-616-F	AGCAGCCGCGGTAATTCCAGCT	58.0 °C
18s-784-R	CGGGACACTCAGCTAAGAGCATC	58.0 °C
Τ7	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGG	56.0 °C
SP6	GATTTAGGTGACACTATAGA	54.0 °C
wtAd5-11523-F	CGCATACGAGCAGACGGTGAAC	60.3 °C
wtAd5-11681-R	GCACTATAAGGAACAGCTGCGCC	60.4 °C
β actina-RNA-1249-F	CATTGCCGACAGGATGCA	58.0 °C
β actina-RNA-1399-R	GCTGATCCACATCTGCTGGA	58.0°C

3.10 Statistical analysis.

Statistical significance was determined using a double tailed Student's t test. For all data analyzed, a significance threshold of P < 0.05 was assumed. In all figures, values were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

4. RESULTS

4.1 Design and construction of Adenoviral vectors

First aim of this study was the production of novel recombinant adenovirus as an oncolytic agent for the treatment of liver cancer. This adenovirus vector was designed to be replication-competent. Hence, it expresses E1A/E1B genes, which are required for adenovirus replication. To make replication miR-199-dependent, the E1A gene was designed to be engineered through the introduction of miR-199 target sequences at its 3'end. The overall vector construction strategy is schematically depicted in **Figure 4.1.** The various steps are detailed in the paragraphs that follow. A control adenovirus, pAd-Control, which lacks miR-199 target sequences, was also developed.



199T and pAd-Control construction.

4.1.1 Construction of the "starting vector" pGEM_E1A/E1B

pGEMT-E1A/E1B (**Figure 4.2 A**) was obtained by cloning the E1A/E1B coding sequences into pGEM-T Easy vector. E1A/E1B coding sequences were amplified by PCR from the pShuttle E1A/E1B vector (**Figure 3.1**), using the primers E1A-E1B-EcoRI-pShuttle-539-F/ E1A-E1B-EcoRI-pShuttle-3569-R (**Figure 4.2 B**). The primers contain the sites for the restriction enzyme EcoR I. The PCR product was ligated into the pGEM-T Vector. (**Figure 3.2**) and transformed *E.Coli* cells were analyzed by PCR using E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A-E1B-3226-R primers. The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.2 C**). To confirm that the E1A/E1B were inserted in the vector, pGEMT-E1A/E1B was digested with EcoRI and ScaI. Three different fragments of 3030 bp, 1875 bp and 1125 bp were correctly generated (**Figure 4.2 D**), as predicted from the map.

The pGEMT_E1A/E1B vector was then sequenced to verify that no errors were inserted into the E1A/E1B coding sequences during PCR amplification from the pShuttle E1A/E1B vector. Four subsequent sequencing reaction were performed using eight different primers, listed in **Table 3.1**. Chromatogram data analysis shows perfect matching between the generated and expected sequence, confirming that no mutations have occurred inside the cloned E1A/E1B genes.



Figure 4.2. Construction of the "starting vector" pGEM_E1A/E1B A. map of the vector pGEMT_E1A/E1B (6030 bp): E1A and E1B genes, the ampicillin resistance gene and the replication origin in *E.Coli* are shown. **B**. Electrophoresis of PCR product generated by E1A-E1B-EcoRI-pShuttle-539-F/ E1A-E1B-EcoRI-pShuttle-3569-R primers from the pShuttle E1A/E1B vector; 1: Lambda HindIII molecular weight marker; 2, 3: 3030 bp fragment corresponding to the E1A/E1B coding sequences. **C**. Electrophoresis of PCR products generated by E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A-E1B-3226-R primers from eleven isolated colonies; 1: 1kb molecular weight marker; 2-5 and 11: negative colonies, 6-10 and 12: positive colonies, 13: positive control; the expected product size was 993 bp. **D**. Electrophoresis of pGEMT_E1A/E1B digested with EcoRI and ScaI (2-5); 1: 1kb molecular weight marker. Three different fragments of 1125 bp, 1875 bp and 3030 bp were correctly generated.

4.1.2 Construction of the "intermediate vector" pENTR_IRES/EGFP

To construct the final entry vector, an intermediate vector was generated. To this aim, the vector pIRES2EGFP (**Figure 3.4**) was digested with the restriction enzymes EcoRI and NotI, generating two fragments: one of 3961 bp, corresponding to the vector backbone; the other of 1347 bp, corresponding to the IRES (Internal Ribosome Entry Site) and the EGFP (Green Fluorescent Protein Enhancer) coding sequence. This fragment was then cloned into pENTR 11 (**Figure 3.3**) generating the pENTR_IRES/EGFP vector (**Figure 4.3 A**). Competent *E.coli*, transformed with the new construct, were analyzed by PCR with primers IRES_EGFP-1061-F /IRES_EGFP-1863-R. The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.3 B**). To confirm that the IRES EGFP sequences were inserted in the vector, pENTR_IRES/EGFP was digested with EcoRI and

NotI. Two fragment of 2314 bp and 1347 bp were correctly generated (**Figure 4.3 C**), as predicted from the map



4.1.3 Construction of the "Control entry vector" pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP

To generate the pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP "control entry vector" (**Figure 4.4 A**). pGEMT/E1A_E1B was digested with EcoRI and NotI, and the E1A/E1B 3030 bp fragment was cloned in the pENTR_IRES EGFP vector. Transformed *E.coli* were analyzed by PCR with primers E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A-E1B-3226-R. The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.4 B**). To confirm that the E1A/E1B coding sequences were inserted in the vector, pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP was digested with EcoRI.(generating two fragments of 3030 bp, and 3655 bp) (**Figure 4.4 C**), and with HindIII (generating two fragments of 5656 bp, and 1029 bp) (**Figure 4.4 D**), as predicted from the map.



pENTR_E1A/E1B_IRES_EGFP digested with HindIII(2-4); 1: Gene Ruler 1kb molecular weight marker;. Two different fragments of 5656 bp, and 1029 bp were correctly generated.

4.1.4 Construction of the "Entry vector" pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP

To generate the "entry vector" pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP, many intermediate steps are necessary, involving different constructs. The vector pGL3 T199 (**Figure 3.5**) was used as donor of miR-199 responsive sequences. This vector contains four tandem repeats of a sequence complementary to the mature hsa-miR-199a_3p sequences (http://microrna.sanger.ac.uk/), flanked by XbaI sites. The target sequence responsive to miR-199 (named "T199"), was amplified from pGL3 miR-199, using the pGl3-Mlu1-1851-F/ pGl3-Mlu1-2220-R primers, containing the sites for the restriction enzyme Mlu1. The 395 bp fragment, corresponding to T199, was cloned in the pGEM_T, vector, generating pGEMT T199. pGEMT T199 was then digested with the restriction enzyme MluI; the T199 fragment, was cloned into the pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP vector, generating the pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP "entry vector" (**Figure 4.5 A**). Competent

E.coli were transformed with the construct and colonies were analyzed by PCR using the pGl3-MluI-1843-F/ pGl3-MluI-2238-R primers. (**Table 3.1**) The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.5 B**). To further verify the correct cloning of the T199 fragment in the pENTR_E1A T199 /E1B IRES EGFP, the vector was digested with the restriction enzyme MluI ; two different fragments of 395 bp and 6685 bp, corresponding respectively to T199 and to the vector backbone, were correctly generated. (**Figure 4.5 C**).

To verify that T199 was correctly "in sense" inserted respect to the E1A coding region, the T199 sequence was amplified from pENTR_E1A T199/E1B IRES EGFP using E1A-E1B-1325-F primer (complementary to the E1A/E1B sequences) and with pGl3-Mlu-12238-R (complementary to the vector sequence) (**Table 3.1**). The PCR originated a 624 bp fragment corresponding to the "in sense" T199 sequence. Furthermore, to verify the integrity and orientation of the cloned sequence, the vector pENTR_E1A 3'UTR miR-199 /E1B IRES EGFP was sequenced using the primer E1A-E1B-1325-F (**Table 3.1**). The cloned fragment was found to be intact and correctly oriented.



E1A/E1B coding sequence and the target sequence responsive to miR-199 (T199) are indicated. **B**. Electrophoresis of PCR product using pGl3-Mlu1-1851-F/ pGl3-Mlu1-2220-R primers; 1: 123 bp molecular weight marker; 2-5: positive colonies, product size 395 bp. **C**. Electrophoresis of restriction digestion of pENTR_E1A T199/E1B IRES EGFP with MluII (2-4); 1: 123 bp molecular weight marker.Two different fragments of 6685 bp and 395 bp were correctly generated.

4.1.5 Construction of final Adenoviral vectors

The adenovirus used in our study was derived from the viral vector pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (pAd Dest), based on the genome of adenovirus type 5, and lacking E1-E3 genes necessary for viral replication (**Figure 4.6**). The E1A T199/E1B cassette was inserted in the pAd Dest and the recombinant adenovirus was produced, generating a conditionally replicative adenovirus (Ad-199T) expressing the E1A gene under miR-199 control. A control adenovirus (Ad-Control) lacking the T199 sequence, was also generated.



Figure 4.6 Schematic representation of the Adenovirus type 5 genome and of the recombinant adenoviruses generated. **A**. adenovirus type 5 genome: the viral early and late genes and the Inverted Terminal Repeat (ITR) are indicated. **B**. Ad-Control genome: the viral E1A and E1B genes, IRES and EGFP are indicated. **C**. Ad-199T genome: the target sequence responsive to miR-199 (T199) cloned at the E1A 3' UTR is indicated. The sequences of miR-199 and of T199 are also shown.

4.1.5.1. Construction of pAd-Control vector

The adenoviral vector pAd-Control was obtained by LR Recombination Reactions between the Control Entry Vector pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP and the adenoviral Destination Vector pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (**Figure 4.7 A and C**). The *in vitro* recombination between the two construct occurs between the attR1 and attR2 sites of the Destination vector and the attL1 and attL2 sites of the Entry vector. The resulting recombination reaction product was then used to transform *E. coli* cells, and the transformed bacteria colonies were analyzed by PCR using primers E1A-E1B-2233-F/E1A-E1B-3226-R, complementary to the E1A/E1B sequences. The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.7 B**), with an expected band size of 993 bp.



Figure 4.7 Construction of pAd-Control. A. map of the vector: the type 5 Adenovirus genome, lacking the E1-E3 genes, the E1A/E1B and EGFP coding sequences under the CMV promoter, are indicated. **B**. Electrophoresis of PCR products using E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A-E1B-3226-R primers on colonies obtained following recombination between Entry and Destination vectors: 1. Gene Ruler 1Kb molecular weight marker ; 2-6 :positive colonies, product size 993 bp. **C**. Diagram showing the site specific recombination between pENTR_E1A/E1B IRES EGFP (1) and pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (2), generating pAd-Control (3).

4.1.5.2. Construction of pAd-199T vector

The adenoviral pAd-199T vector was obtained by recombination between the Entry Vector pENTR_E1A /T199 /E1B_IRES_EGFP and the adenoviral Destination Vector pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (**Figure 4.8 A and C**). The *in vitro* recombination between the two construct occurs between the attR1 and attR2 sites of the Destination vector and the attL1 and attL2 sites of the Entry vector. The resulting recombination reaction product was then used to transform *E. coli* cells, and the transformed bacteria colonies were analyzed by PCR using primers E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A E1B-3226-R, complementary to the E1A/E1B sequences. The PCR analysis revealed several positive colonies (**Figure 4.8 B**).



Figure 4.8 Construction of pAd-199T. A. map of the vector: the type 5 Adenovirus genome, lacking the E1-E3 genes, the E1A_T199, E1B and EGFP coding sequences under the CMV promoter, are indicated; **B**. Electrophoresis of PCR products using E1A-E1B-2233-F/ E1A-E1B-3226-R primers on colonies obtained following recombination between Entry and Destination vectors: 1. Gene Ruler 1Kb molecular weight marker ; 2-10 :positive colonies, product size 993 bp. C. Diagram showing the site specific recombination between pAD_E1A_3'UTR miR-199_E1B_IRES_EGFP (1) and pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (2), generating pAd-199T(3).

To verify that the new adenoviral vectors were correctly generated by the recombination reactions between the entry and the destination vectors, pAd DEST , pAd-Control and pAd-199T were

digested with the restriction enzyme HindIII. The resulting restriction patterns corresponded to those predicted on the basis of sequence information, confirming that the recombination reactions had occurred as expected (**Figure 4.9**)



Figure 4.9 Characterization of pAd-199T and pAd-Control. A. Electrophoresis of pAd-199T (2), pAd-Control (3) and pAd/CMV/V5-Dest (pAd DEST) (4) after digestion with restriction enzyme HindIII. 1: Gene Ruler 1Kb molecular weight marker; 5. Lambda HindIII molecular weight marker. B. Size of the restriction fragments generated by HindIII digestion of the three adenoviral vectors, as predicted by the soft ware program NEBcutter. The results shows that the recombination reactions had correctly occurred.

4.1.6. Production of Adenoviruses

The viral particles of recombinant Adenoviruses were produced using the HEK 293 FT cells, derived from human embryonic kidney fibroblast. This cell line express Adenovirus E1A/E1B genes as well as the SV40 T antigen, which allows the production of viral particles at high titers. The adenoviral vectors pAd-199T and pAd-Control were first linearized by digestion with the restriction enzyme PacI to expose the ITR (Inverted Terminal Repeat) region, which is necessary for virus replication. The linearized adenoviral vectors were then transfected into HEK 293 FT cells; the virus was collected and used to infect again 293 FT cells, to obtain the final viral stock. Purified. viral particles (vp) were quantified by EVA Green-based quantitative real-time PCR using

wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers . The titer of the produced adenoviruses were 6.24×10^{10} vp/ml for Ad-199T and 1.95×10^{10} vp/ml for Ad-Control .

Since 293 FT cells constitutively express E1A E1B genes, allowing viral replication also in replication defective recombinant adenoviruses, the replication ability of the Ad-199T and Ad-Control viruses was checked in HepG2 cells., Virus production was confirmed by the appearance of a cytopathic effect (CPE) in HepG2 cells 24 h after infection **Figure 4.10**.



4.2 Viral replication of Ad-199T is microRNA-dependent in vitro and in vivo

The aim of this study is the production of a conditionally replicative adenovirus (CRAD) under miR-199 control. To verify if miR-199 could regulate E1A expression and viral replication, Ad-199T and Ad-Control were used to infect two different cell lines: (1) HepG2, derived from human liver carcinoma and not expressing miR-199; (2) HepG2-199, which derives from HepG2, but was engineered to constitutively express miR-199a.

To assess viral replication in absence of miR-199, HepG2 cells were infected with Ad-199T or with Ad-Control. The infected cells were harvested 24 h, 48 h, 72 h, 96 h and 120 h after infection to assess viral replication. For this purpose, DNAs extracted from infected cells were analyzed by quantitative PCR using primers specific for E1A. The result showed a progressive accumulation of

viral DNA in the cells infected with the control adenovirus and in those infected with Ad-199T. This result demonstrates that active viral replication is occurring for both viruses in this miR-199 negative cell line. (Figure 4.11)

To assess viral replication in the presence of miR-199, HepG2-199 cells were infected with Ad-199T or with Ad-Control. The infected cells were harvested 24 h, 48 h, 72 h,96 h and 120 h after infection to assess viral replication. DNAs extracted from infected cells were analyzed by quantitative PCR using wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers which allows the amplification of E1A. The result showed a progressive accumulation of viral DNA in the cells infected with adenovirus control (Ad-Control), indicating that active viral replication is occurring within the cells. Conversely, in cells infected with Ad-199T the viral DNA did not increase over time, confirming that the virus replication was inhibited by the presence of miR-199 (**Figure 4.11**).



Figure 4.11 miR-199 controls Ad-199T replication *in vitro.* **A** Quantitative PCR results using wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers on DNA extracted from HepG2 and HepG2-199 cells, infected with Ad-Control: active viral replication is confirmed in both cell lines by progressive accumulation of viral DNA (bar graphs) at 24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 h post infection. Each time point was analyzed in triplicate, standard deviation is indicated. **B** Quantitative PCR results using the same primers on DNA extracted from HepG2 and HepG2-199 cells, infected with Ad-199T: active viral replication is confirmed only in HepG2 cell lines by progressive accumulation of viral DNA (bar graphs) at 24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 h post infection. In HepG2-199 cells infected with Ad-199T, the viral DNA (bar graphs) at 24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 h post infection. In HepG2-199 cells infected with Ad-199T, the viral DNA did not increase over time, confirming that the virus replication was inhibited by the presence of miR-199. Each time point was analyzed in triplicate, standard deviation is indicated.

To verify that miR-199 regulates Ad-199T replication through E1A modulation, HepG2-199 cells were infected with Ad-Control and with Ad-199T and analyzed for E1A expression 24 h post infection. For this purpose RNAs from infected cells were extracted, analyzed by electrophoresis on agarose gel (**Figure 4.12 B**), treated with DNase and reverse transcribed to cDNAs (**Figure 4.12 C**). cDNAs were then analyzed by quantitative PCR using wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers, which allows E1A amplification. The results show that E1A expression was significantly reduced in Ad-199T infected cells, compared to control (p-value 0,011). This evidence indicates that miR-199, constitutively expressed in this cell line, controls E1A expression of Ad-199T. Conversely, E1A expression of Ad-Control virus, lacking the miR target sequence, is miR-199 independent. (**Figure 4.12 A**),



Figure 4.12 miR-199 regulates Ad-199T replication through E1A modulation. A Quantitative PCR on cDNAs from HepG2-199 cells, infected with Ad-199T and Ad-Control, using wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers: E1A expression was significantly reduced in Ad-199T infected cells, compared to Ad-Control infected cells. Each time point was analyzed in triplicate, standard deviation is indicated. beta actin was used to normalize data. B Electrophoresis of RNAs extracted from: (1) non infected HepG2-199 cells, (2, 3) HepG2-199 infected with Ad-199T, and (4) HepG2-199 infected with Ad-Control. Bands corresponding to 28S and 18S rRNA are shown. C Electrophoresis of PCR products using B actinRNA-1249-F/ B actinRNA-1399-R primers on cDNAs derived from HepG2-199 cells: (2) non infected, (3, 4) infected with Ad-199T, and (5) infected with Ad-Control, (1) 123 bp molecular weight marker. The size of the amplification product is 150 bp.

To assess the different expression of E1A protein from Ad-199T in absence or in presence of miR-199, HepG2 and HepG2-199 cells were infected with Ad-199T and with Ad-Control, and analyzed for the presence of E1A protein. For this purpose, cell crude extract from infected cells were analyzed by western blot using a polyclonal anti-E1A antibody The results show that, in HepG2 cells, E1A protein was expressed and detectable following infection with both viruses, confirming that, in absence of miR-199, both viruses were competent for replication. Conversely, in HepG2-199, the E1A protein was detectable only in Ad-Control infected cells, while in Ad-199T infected cells the protein was absent. This evidence confirms that miR-199, constitutively expressed in this cell line, controls E1A expression of Ad-199T, while E1A expression of Ad-Control virus, lacking the miR target sequence, is miR-199 independent. (**Figure 4.13**), Based on the results, Ad-199T replication was thus significantly suppressed in miR-199 expressing cells, while Ad-Control virus was still able to replicate in these cells.



To assess replication properties of recombinant adenoviruses *in vivo*, we assessed the ability of Ad-199T virus to replicate in the liver of B6D2 wild type mice. Ten millions v.p. of the Ad-199T virus or 1×10^7 v.p. of the Ad-Control virus were intra-hepatically injected into 4 days old mice. At 72 hours after infection, livers were collected and viral DNA quantified using semi-quantitative and quantitative PCR (**Figure 4.14**). The results demonstrated that the viral DNA was strongly reduced in livers of mice infected with Ad-199T virus in comparison with livers of mice treated with Ad-Control (**Figure 4.14** A). These results were confirmed by quantitative Real Time PCR (p-value = 0.054) (Figure 4.14 B). These findings demonstrated that miR-199 could control Ad-199T replication in normal liver cells.



wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers on genomic DNAs extracted from livers of mice injected with Ad-Control (1370, 1372) and with Ad-199T(1375, 1376). Quantitative Real Time PCR using the same primers on the same samples. The result showed that the replication of Ad-199T was significantly suppressed in normal liver comparing with Ad-Control. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate. standard deviation is indicated.

4.3 Ad-199T can eliminate tumor cells with the same efficiency of Ad-Control virus

After proving that Ad-199T virus cannot or poorly replicate in normal liver cells, we aimed at verifying whether this same virus could still replicate in tumor cells *in vivo*. Ad-199T or Ad-Control were used to infect HepG2 derived cells (HepLuc) implanted into the liver of B6D2 wild type mice.

Two millions HepLuc cells, derived from HepG2 and over-expressing the Luciferase reporter gene, were intra-hepatically implanted in each of eighteen B6D2 wild type mice at 3 days after birth. To

verify the presence of the HepLuc cells into the target liver tissue, the mice were examined at the *In Vivo* Imaging System (IVIS) Spectrum and light emission measured two hours after cell implantation. The detection of a very strong light emission established the presence of implanted cells in the liver of all animals (**Figure 4.15 A**).

After 24 hours, three experimental groups, consisting of six mice each, were defined: one infected intra-hepatically with $1x10^7$ v.p. of the Ad-199T virus, the second with $1x10^7$ v.p. Ad-Control virus and the third group was not infected, to monitor HepLuc cells over time.

Mice were monitored at the IVIS at 24, 48 and 72 hours after virus infection. Non virally infected animals exhibited a strong signal at 24 hours, which slightly decreased at 48 and 72 hours, indicating the presence of the cells during all the observation time points. Conversely, in the virally infected animals the signal decreased more rapidly, to almost completely disappear at 72 hours. These results suggest that the implanted tumor cells were likely eliminated due to active viral replication by either Ad-Control or Ad-199T (**Figure 4.15 B, C, D**). A quantitative photon counting analysis of the region-of-interest showed a highly significant decrease (P Value <0.05) of luminescence in mice infected with the Ad-Control or the Ad-199T viruses vs. control uninfected animals (**Figure 4.15 E**).



Figure 4.15 Ad-199T replicate in tumor cells *in vivo*. A Two millions HepLuc cells were intra-hepatically implanted in eighteen B6D2 wild type mice at 3 days after birth and examined at the *In Vivo* Imaging System (IVIS) Spectrum two hours after cell implantation. After 24 hours, the mice were infected intra-hepatically with $1x10^7$ v.p. of the Ad-199T virus (Ad-199T), or with $1x10^7$ v.p. Ad-Control virus (Ad- Control) or not infected (no virus). Mice were monitored at the IVIS at 24 hours (B), 48 hours (C) and 72 hours (D) after virus infection. Reduction in pseudocolor images, representing bioluminescence intensity, indicates that the implanted tumor cells were likely eliminated due to active viral replication by either Ad-Control or Ad-199T. E A quantitative photon counting analysis of the region-of-interest showed a highly significant decrease (P Value <0.05) of luminescence in mice infected with the Ad-Control or the Ad-199T viruses vs. uninfected animals. The livers of mice sacrificed at 72 hours were macroscopically analyzed. A tumor mass was evident in correspondence of the signal detected at the IVIS luminometer in non-infected animals. Conversely, in mice injected with both viruses, there was evidence of significant reduction or loss of liver tumor masses, consistent with the lack of luminous signal (**Figure 4 .16**). These data strongly suggested that both Ad-199T and Ad-Control viruses could replicate *in vivo* and eliminate the implanted tumor cells.



Figure 4.16 Reduction in bioluminescence intensity indicates reduction of tumor masses. At 72 hours of experiment shown in Figure 4.15, mice were sacrificed and livers removed. Images of livers show the presence of tumor masses whose size is approximately proportional to luminescent signals. Tumor masses are large in controls not treated with viruses and significantly reduced in mice treated with viruses.

To confirm that the Ad-199T replication was restricted to cancer cells, two millions HepLuc cells were intra-hepatically implanted in each of six B6D2 wild type mice at 3 days after birth. After 24 hours, mice were infected intra-hepatically with 1×10^7 v.p. of the Ad-199T virus.

Mice were sacrificed at 24, 48 and 72 hours after virus injection. Livers were collected and the presence of viral DNA was assessed both in the tumors and in the surrounding normal tissues (**Figure 4.17 A**) The results show the presence of viral DNA only in the tumor tissues, indicating that active viral replication has occurred in the tumor, but not in the normal liver. The result confirms

that the replication of Ad-199T virus is significantly suppressed in normal liver but it is still effective in tumor cells (**Figure 4.17 B**).

Because normal liver cells contain significant amount of microRNA-199, these data establish that the introduction of miR-199 target sites at the E1A gene could represent a strategy for reducing hepatoxicity, but still retaining oncolytic activity of recombinant adenoviruses.



Figure 4.17 Differential replication of Ad-199T in normal liver versus tumor cells. Following liver implantation of HepLuc cells, Ad-199T virus was directly injected into the liver. Mice were sacrificed at various time-points (24h, 48h and 72 h p.i.). Adenoviral DNA was amplified from DNAs isolated from tumor masses and from surrounding normal liver. Semi-quantitative (**A**) and quantitative (**B**) PCR reactions were performed to assess viral replication. **A**. Electrophoresis of PCR products amplified using wtAd5-11523-F/ wtAd5-11681-R primers. **B**. quantitative Real Time PCR using the same primers on the same samples. The result shows a significant suppression of Ad-199T replication in normal liver compared to tumors.

5. **DISCUSSION**

HCC is the fifth most frequent neoplasm and the third leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide (156). In spite of general improvements in cancer treatments, survival has not significantly improved for HCC patients because of the advanced stage of the disease at diagnosis and the still limited therapeutic options. For HCC patients, complete tumor removal represents the only long-term cure. Liver resection is the choice for patients with tumors less than 5 cm in the absence of cirrhosis. In these patients, mortality rate of less than 2% can be expected (157, 158). However, resection of the tumor by partial hepatectomy can be accomplished in a limited number of patients (generally < 15-30%) due to the extent of underlying cirrhosis. In patients with cirrhosis, the extent of liver resection that can be tolerated is significantly more limited. Among patients who undergo successful resection, 5-year survival rates is up to 74%. Following resection, however, up to 75% of patients will develop intrahepatic recurrence within 5 years (159). Compared with resection, orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) offers several potential advantages. Complete hepatectomy eliminates the possibility of local recurrence at the resection margin and removes the cirrhotic liver, which is clearly predisposed to tumor formation. OLT was established as the therapy of choice for patients with significant cirrhosis and limited tumor burden (160-163).

In patients who are not candidates for liver transplantation or resection, tumor ablation can be offered to extend life and to potentially downstage the tumor and permit transplantation or resection. The most commonly offered therapy is transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE) (164). TACE delivers high local doses of chemotherapy, including doxorubicin, cisplatin, or mitomycin C to the tumor through the feeding artery. The impact of TACE on the clinical outcome remains unclear and is contraindicated in patients with advanced cirrhosis and hepatic decompensation.

The use of systemic chemotherapy has been attempted. Unfortunately, HCC is minimally responsive to systemic chemotherapy. Among the agents tried, doxorubicin-based regimens appear to have the greatest efficacy with response rates of 20-30% but a minimal impact on survival. More recently, the multikinase inhibitor sorafenib, able to target multiple pathways and blocking RAF/MEK/ERK signaling at the level of raf-kinase as well as by inhibiting vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta (PDGFR-beta), was shown to improve survival and increase time to disease progression (165, 166). Sorafenib has become the most promising chemotherapeutic agent in the treatment of advanced HCC in patients with preserved liver function. In addition to sorafenib, sunitinib, bevacizumab, epidermal growth

factor receptor inhibitors, and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors have shown activity in small patient cohorts. In spite of all these efforts, with the exception of early and very early tumor stages, HCC remains an uncurable disease and new more effective and less toxic therapeutic agents are needed.

Oncolytic virotheraphy emerged as a promising experimental approach to fight cancer. Oncolytic Ad5-based viruses have shown efficacy and safety in preclinical (167-170) and clinical trials (102, 171) including the treatment of prostate cancer (172-174). However, variable expression of the primary Ad5 receptor, the coxsackie-adenovirus receptor, may limit the efficacy of Ad5-based constructs (175). Various approaches can be used to improve adenoviral transduction of cancer cells. For example, switching the Ad5 fiber knob to serotype 3 knob improves the transduction and enhances the cell-killing capacity of the virus in the context of many cancer types including prostate cancer (167, 170) or and colon cancer (176). Several clinical reports have indicated promising antitumor capabilities with oncolytic viruses, although there are only a few reports of complete tumor eradication. One possibility to improve therapeutic efficacy is to use the synergy of radiation and oncolytic adenoviruses (177, 178). Another possibility recently develop by combination adenoviral virotherapy and chemotherapy to eradicates malignant glioma (179). Additional clinical trials using oncolytic Ads have been carried out, and promising results have been reported (180-182).

For safe and effective gene therapy, target tissue-restricted virus expression is desirable. Conditionally replicative Adenoviruses (CRAds) specifically aim at killing tumor cells while sparing normal cells have been introduced as new agents for cancer therapy (99, 183, 184). Various methods have been developed to achieve such selective expression.

Different types of oncolytic Adenoviruses (Ads) have been developed. The most common type of oncolytic Ads were designed to drive E1A gene expression cassette by a tumor-specific promoter. Employed tumor-specific promoters included the alpha-fetoprotein promoter (45), prostate-specific antigen promoter (46), osteocalcin promoter (47), and cyclooxygenase-2 promoter (48). The tumor-specific E1A expression renders the oncolytic Ads tumor specifically replicative; however, in any case, oncolytic viruses could also replicate in normal cells, leading to undesirable toxicity.

Another approach was based on the introduction of E1B deletions to make viral replication possible in p53-defective cells. The best known of these viruses is ONYX-015. The oncolytic adenovirus ONYX-015 was the first to be tested in clinical trials, revealing itself as a well tolerated and safe tool and so to be a promising therapeutic agent in cancer (185). Even a combination between this

virus and standard chemotherapy was demonstrated to be a strong trial to increase the antitumor activity of virotherapy (186).

Here, we developed a novel CRAd whose replication is controlled by miR-199. The virus can replicate in miR-199-negative cells. Since HCC cells typically exhibit a strong down-regulation of miR-199, which is instead expressed at substantial level in normal hepatocytes as well as in other normal tissues. Thus, this virus should be able to deliver its cytocidal effect to cancer but not to normal cells, thereby addressing the important issue of a novel therapeutic approach with improved efficacy and safety in HCC.

The methods of using miRNA target (miRT) sequences was first described by Naldini and colleagues to specifically modulate transgene expression in hematopoietic cells (146) or hepatocytes (187) . Kelly *et al* employed a similar approach to restrict replication of a coxsackievirus to inhibit its replication in normal muscle tissue and reduce muscle inflammation without compromising tumor cell-killing ability (21). More recently, Fu and colleagues constructed a LCSOV (liver-cancer-specific oncolytic virus) in which the essential viral glycoprotein H gene (gH gene) was controlled by the apoE-AAT liver-specific promoter and by the presence of complementary sequences to miR-122, miR-124a and let-7a in its 3'UTR (188). Using that strategy the authors were able to create an oncolytic virus able to kill HCC cells.

It has also been described a miR-122-detargeting approach to reduce adenovirus-induced liver toxicity (96, 97). These studies have used the wild type E1A promoter to control E1A and demonstrated that the presence of miR-122 target sequences within the 3'UTR of E1A gene could reduce E1A expression in hepatic cells and reduce hepatotoxicity.

In this work, we exploited the differential expression of miR-199 between tumor versus nonneoplastic liver tissues to modulate the expression of E1A gene and selectively permit the replication of the oncolytic virus only in HCC cells. We demonstrated this property of AD-199T both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. We demonstrated that AD-199T virus was not able to replicate in a cell line stably expressing the miR-199, while the adenoviral replication proceeded exponentially in HCC cells lacking the microRNA. To ensure that this property of AD-199T was functional *in vivo*, we administrated it intra-hepatically in 3 days old mice, thus avoiding the confounding effect that would be produced by immune system reaction (189). Also in this *in vivo* model, the AD-199T was not able to replicate, in spite of the fact that an identical control virus, lacking the miR-199 target sites, could efficiently undergo several rounds of replication. To give support to the oncolytic activity of AD-199T, we proved that the virus, was able to inhibit the growth of tumor cells previously implanted in the liver with the same efficiency of Adeno control virus. The presence of AD-199T viral DNA only in neoplastic tissues and the absence of detectable amount of viral DNA in normal liver indicated the ability of the miR-199 target sequences to inhibit adenoviral replication and so precisely direct the oncolytic activity against tumor cells. This work is the first that make use of miR-199 to target an oncolytic virus to cancer cells. Other works have utilized microRNAs to reduce viral pathogenicity in normal tissues (190-192).

These results suggest the knowledge of miRNA expression in normal and cancer cells may be used to design viruses with two properties: efficacy against cancer cells combined with minimal adverse side effects. The demonstration that HCC can be selectively targeted with little or no toxicity to normal hepatocytes suggest that this is a feasible task and other therapeutic options may potentially exist.

REFERENCES

- 1. Farazi, P. A. and DePinho, R. A. Hepatocellular carcinoma pathogenesis: from genes to environment. Nat Rev Cancer, *6*: 674-687, 2006.
- 2. El-Serag, H. B. and Rudolph, K. L. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology, *132*: 2557-2576, 2007.
- 3. Sangiovanni, A., Del Ninno, E., Fasani, P., De Fazio, C., Ronchi, G., Romeo, R., Morabito, A., De Franchis, R., and Colombo, M. Increased survival of cirrhotic patients with a hepatocellular carcinoma detected during surveillance. Gastroenterology, *126*: 1005-1014, 2004.
- 4. Villanueva, A., Toffanin, S., and Llovet, J. M. Linking molecular classification of hepatocellular carcinoma and personalized medicine: preliminary steps. Curr Opin Oncol, *20:* 444-453, 2008.
- 5. Kelly, E. and Russell, S. J. History of oncolytic viruses: genesis to genetic engineering. Mol Ther, *15:* 651-659, 2007.
- 6. Moore, A. E. Effects of viruses on tumors. Annu Rev Microbiol, 8: 393-410, 1954.
- 7. Hoster, H. A., Zanes, R. P., Jr., and Von Haam, E. Studies in Hodgkin's syndrome; the association of viral hepatitis and Hodgkin's disease; a preliminary report. Cancer Res, *9*: 473-480, 1949.
- 8. Taylor, A. W. Effects of glandular fever infection in acute leukaemia. Br Med J, *1*: 589-593, 1953.
- 9. Norman, K. L., Farassati, F., and Lee, P. W. Oncolytic viruses and cancer therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, *12*: 271-282, 2001.
- 10. Ambros, V. The functions of animal microRNAs. Nature, *431*: 350-355, 2004.
- 11. Pennisi, E. Training viruses to attack cancers. Science, *282*: 1244-1246, 1998.
- 12. Parato, K. A., Senger, D., Forsyth, P. A., and Bell, J. C. Recent progress in the battle between oncolytic viruses and tumours. Nat Rev Cancer, *5*: 965-976, 2005.
- 13. Russell, S. J. RNA viruses as virotherapy agents. Cancer Gene Ther, *9*: 961-966, 2002.
- 14. Bergmann, M., Romirer, I., Sachet, M., Fleischhacker, R., Garcia-Sastre, A., Palese, P., Wolff, K., Pehamberger, H., Jakesz, R., and Muster, T. A genetically engineered influenza A virus with rasdependent oncolytic properties. Cancer Res, *61*: 8188-8193, 2001.
- 15. Jeyaretna, D. S. and Kuroda, T. Recent advances in the development of oncolytic HSV-1 vectors: 'arming' of HSV-1 vectors and application of bacterial artificial chromosome technology for their construction. Curr Opin Mol Ther, *9*: 447-466, 2007.
- 16. Shen, Y. and Nemunaitis, J. Herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) for cancer treatment. Cancer Gene Ther, *13*: 975-992, 2006.
- 17. Ketola, A., Hinkkanen, A., Yongabi, F., Furu, P., Maatta, A. M., Liimatainen, T., Pirinen, R., Bjorn, M., Hakkarainen, T., Makinen, K., Wahlfors, J., and Pellinen, R. Oncolytic Semliki forest virus vector as a novel candidate against unresectable osteosarcoma. Cancer Res, *68*: 8342-8350, 2008.
- 18. Lichty, B. D., Power, A. T., Stojdl, D. F., and Bell, J. C. Vesicular stomatitis virus: re-inventing the bullet. Trends Mol Med, *10*: 210-216, 2004.
- 19. Dobbelstein, M. Replicating adenoviruses in cancer therapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, *273:* 291-334, 2004.
- 20. Kirn, D. H. and Thorne, S. H. Targeted and armed oncolytic poxviruses: a novel multi-mechanistic therapeutic class for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, *9*: 64-71, 2009.
- 21. Kelly, E. J., Hadac, E. M., Greiner, S., and Russell, S. J. Engineering microRNA responsiveness to decrease virus pathogenicity. Nat Med, *14:* 1278-1283, 2008.
- 22. Russell, S. J. and Peng, K. W. Measles virus for cancer therapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, *330:* 213-241, 2009.
- 23. Dobrikova, E. Y., Broadt, T., Poiley-Nelson, J., Yang, X., Soman, G., Giardina, S., Harris, R., and Gromeier, M. Recombinant oncolytic poliovirus eliminates glioma in vivo without genetic adaptation to a pathogenic phenotype. Mol Ther, *16:* 1865-1872, 2008.
- 24. Campos, S. K. and Barry, M. A. Current advances and future challenges in Adenoviral vector biology and targeting. Curr Gene Ther, *7:* 189-204, 2007.

- 25. Waehler, R., Russell, S. J., and Curiel, D. T. Engineering targeted viral vectors for gene therapy. Nat Rev Genet, *8*: 573-587, 2007.
- 26. Thorne, S. H., Hwang, T. H., O'Gorman, W. E., Bartlett, D. L., Sei, S., Kanji, F., Brown, C., Werier, J., Cho, J. H., Lee, D. E., Wang, Y., Bell, J., and Kirn, D. H. Rational strain selection and engineering creates a broad-spectrum, systemically effective oncolytic poxvirus, JX-963. J Clin Invest, *117:* 3350-3358, 2007.
- 27. Huch, M., Gros, A., Jose, A., Gonzalez, J. R., Alemany, R., and Fillat, C. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor transcriptionally controlled adenoviruses eradicate pancreatic tumors and liver metastasis in mouse models. Neoplasia, *11*: 518-528, 514 p following 528, 2009.
- 28. Pan, W., Bodempudi, V., Esfandyari, T., and Farassati, F. Utilizing ras signaling pathway to direct selective replication of herpes simplex virus-1. PLoS One, *4*: e6514, 2009.
- 29. Cafferata, E. G., Maccio, D. R., Lopez, M. V., Viale, D. L., Carbone, C., Mazzolini, G., and Podhajcer, O. L. A novel A33 promoter-based conditionally replicative adenovirus suppresses tumor growth and eradicates hepatic metastases in human colon cancer models. Clin Cancer Res, *15:* 3037-3049, 2009.
- 30. Hsieh, J. L., Lee, C. H., Teo, M. L., Lin, Y. J., Huang, Y. S., Wu, C. L., and Shiau, A. L. Transthyretindriven oncolytic adenovirus suppresses tumor growth in orthotopic and ascites models of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Sci, *100:* 537-545, 2009.
- 31. Nakajima, O., Matsunaga, A., Ichimaru, D., Urata, Y., Fujiwara, T., and Kawakami, K. Telomerasespecific virotherapy in an animal model of human head and neck cancer. Mol Cancer Ther, *8*: 171-177, 2009.
- 32. Doloff, J. C., Waxman, D. J., and Jounaidi, Y. Human telomerase reverse transcriptase promoterdriven oncolytic adenovirus with E1B-19 kDa and E1B-55 kDa gene deletions. Hum Gene Ther, *19*: 1383-1400, 2008.
- 33. Hsu, K. F., Wu, C. L., Huang, S. C., Hsieh, J. L., Huang, Y. S., Chen, Y. F., Shen, M. R., Chung, W. J., Chou, C. Y., and Shiau, A. L. Conditionally replicating E1B-deleted adenovirus driven by the squamous cell carcinoma antigen 2 promoter for uterine cervical cancer therapy. Cancer Gene Ther, *15*: 526-534, 2008.
- 34. Shafren, D. R., Dorahy, D. J., Ingham, R. A., Burns, G. F., and Barry, R. D. Coxsackievirus A21 binds to decay-accelerating factor but requires intercellular adhesion molecule 1 for cell entry. J Virol, *71:* 4736-4743, 1997.
- 35. Anderson, B. D., Nakamura, T., Russell, S. J., and Peng, K. W. High CD46 receptor density determines preferential killing of tumor cells by oncolytic measles virus. Cancer Res, *64:* 4919-4926, 2004.
- 36. Nishimoto, T., Yoshida, K., Miura, Y., Kobayashi, A., Hara, H., Ohnami, S., Kurisu, K., Yoshida, T., and Aoki, K. Oncolytic virus therapy for pancreatic cancer using the adenovirus library displaying random peptides on the fiber knob. Gene Ther, *16*: 669-680, 2009.
- 37. Conner, J., Braidwood, L., and Brown, S. M. A strategy for systemic delivery of the oncolytic herpes virus HSV1716: redirected tropism by antibody-binding sites incorporated on the virion surface as a glycoprotein D fusion protein. Gene Ther, *15:* 1579-1592, 2008.
- 38. Coughlan, L., Vallath, S., Saha, A., Flak, M., McNeish, I. A., Vassaux, G., Marshall, J. F., Hart, I. R., and Thomas, G. J. In vivo retargeting of adenovirus type 5 to alphavbeta6 integrin results in reduced hepatotoxicity and improved tumor uptake following systemic delivery. J Virol, *83:* 6416-6428, 2009.
- 39. Gomes, E. M., Rodrigues, M. S., Phadke, A. P., Butcher, L. D., Starling, C., Chen, S., Chang, D., Hernandez-Alcoceba, R., Newman, J. T., Stone, M. J., and Tong, A. W. Antitumor activity of an oncolytic adenoviral-CD40 ligand (CD154) transgene construct in human breast cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res, *15*: 1317-1325, 2009.
- 40. Piao, Y., Jiang, H., Alemany, R., Krasnykh, V., Marini, F. C., Xu, J., Alonso, M. M., Conrad, C. A., Aldape, K. D., Gomez-Manzano, C., and Fueyo, J. Oncolytic adenovirus retargeted to Delta-EGFR induces selective antiglioma activity. Cancer Gene Ther, *16*: 256-265, 2009.

- 41. Morrison, J., Briggs, S. S., Green, N., Fisher, K., Subr, V., Ulbrich, K., Kehoe, S., and Seymour, L. W. Virotherapy of ovarian cancer with polymer-cloaked adenovirus retargeted to the epidermal growth factor receptor. Mol Ther, *16*: 244-251, 2008.
- 42. Allen, C., Paraskevakou, G., Iankov, I., Giannini, C., Schroeder, M., Sarkaria, J., Puri, R. K., Russell, S. J., and Galanis, E. Interleukin-13 displaying retargeted oncolytic measles virus strains have significant activity against gliomas with improved specificity. Mol Ther, *16*: 1556-1564, 2008.
- 43. Mathis, J. M., Stoff-Khalili, M. A., and Curiel, D. T. Oncolytic adenoviruses selective retargeting to tumor cells. Oncogene, *24*: 7775-7791, 2005.
- 44. Ribacka, C., Pesonen, S., and Hemminki, A. Cancer, stem cells, and oncolytic viruses. Ann Med, *40:* 496-505, 2008.
- 45. Li, Y., Yu, D. C., Chen, Y., Amin, P., Zhang, H., Nguyen, N., and Henderson, D. R. A hepatocellular carcinoma-specific adenovirus variant, CV890, eliminates distant human liver tumors in combination with doxorubicin. Cancer Res, *61*: 6428-6436, 2001.
- 46. Rodriguez, R., Schuur, E. R., Lim, H. Y., Henderson, G. A., Simons, J. W., and Henderson, D. R. Prostate attenuated replication competent adenovirus (ARCA) CN706: a selective cytotoxic for prostate-specific antigen-positive prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res, *57*: 2559-2563, 1997.
- 47. Matsubara, S., Wada, Y., Gardner, T. A., Egawa, M., Park, M. S., Hsieh, C. L., Zhau, H. E., Kao, C., Kamidono, S., Gillenwater, J. Y., and Chung, L. W. A conditional replication-competent adenoviral vector, Ad-OC-E1a, to cotarget prostate cancer and bone stroma in an experimental model of androgen-independent prostate cancer bone metastasis. Cancer Res, *61:* 6012-6019, 2001.
- 48. Yamamoto, M., Davydova, J., Wang, M., Siegal, G. P., Krasnykh, V., Vickers, S. M., and Curiel, D. T. Infectivity enhanced, cyclooxygenase-2 promoter-based conditionally replicative adenovirus for pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology, *125*: 1203-1218, 2003.
- 49. Lenaerts, L., De Clercq, E., and Naesens, L. Clinical features and treatment of adenovirus infections. Rev Med Virol, *18*: 357-374, 2008.
- 50. Kojaoghlanian, T., Flomenberg, P., and Horwitz, M. S. The impact of adenovirus infection on the immunocompromised host. Rev Med Virol, *13*: 155-171, 2003.
- 51. Davison, A. J., Benko, M., and Harrach, B. Genetic content and evolution of adenoviruses. J Gen Virol, *84*: 2895-2908, 2003.
- 52. Russell, W. C. Adenoviruses: update on structure and function. J Gen Virol, *90:* 1-20, 2009.
- 53. Rekosh, D. M., Russell, W. C., Bellet, A. J., and Robinson, A. J. Identification of a protein linked to the ends of adenovirus DNA. Cell, *11*: 283-295, 1977.
- 54. Russell, W. C. Update on adenovirus and its vectors. J Gen Virol, *81:* 2573-2604, 2000.
- 55. Nemerow, G. R., Pache, L., Reddy, V., and Stewart, P. L. Insights into adenovirus host cell interactions from structural studies. Virology, *384*: 380-388, 2009.
- 56. Nicklin, S. A., Wu, E., Nemerow, G. R., and Baker, A. H. The influence of adenovirus fiber structure and function on vector development for gene therapy. Mol Ther, *12*: 384-393, 2005.
- 57. Vellinga, J., Van der Heijdt, S., and Hoeben, R. C. The adenovirus capsid: major progress in minor proteins. J Gen Virol, *86:* 1581-1588, 2005.
- 58. Leopold, P. L. and Crystal, R. G. Intracellular trafficking of adenovirus: many means to many ends. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, *59:* 810-821, 2007.
- 59. Wickham, T. J., Mathias, P., Cheresh, D. A., and Nemerow, G. R. Integrins alpha v beta 3 and alpha v beta 5 promote adenovirus internalization but not virus attachment. Cell, *73*: 309-319, 1993.
- 60. Wang, K., Huang, S., Kapoor-Munshi, A., and Nemerow, G. Adenovirus internalization and infection require dynamin. J Virol, *72:* 3455-3458, 1998.
- 61. Leopold, P. L., Kreitzer, G., Miyazawa, N., Rempel, S., Pfister, K. K., Rodriguez-Boulan, E., and Crystal, R. G. Dynein- and microtubule-mediated translocation of adenovirus serotype 5 occurs after endosomal lysis. Hum Gene Ther, *11*: 151-165, 2000.
- 62. Saphire, A. C., Guan, T., Schirmer, E. C., Nemerow, G. R., and Gerace, L. Nuclear import of adenovirus DNA in vitro involves the nuclear protein import pathway and hsc70. J Biol Chem, *275:* 4298-4304, 2000.

- 63. Trotman, L. C., Mosberger, N., Fornerod, M., Stidwill, R. P., and Greber, U. F. Import of adenovirus DNA involves the nuclear pore complex receptor CAN/Nup214 and histone H1. Nat Cell Biol, *3:* 1092-1100, 2001.
- 64. Moran, E. Interaction of adenoviral proteins with pRB and p53. FASEB J, 7: 880-885, 1993.
- 65. Berk, A. J. Adenovirus promoters and E1A transactivation. Annu Rev Genet, *20:* 45-79, 1986.
- 66. Berk, A. J. Functions of adenovirus E1A. Cancer Surv, *5:* 367-387, 1986.
- 67. Volpers, C. and Kochanek, S. Adenoviral vectors for gene transfer and therapy. J Gene Med, *6 Suppl* 1: S164-171, 2004.
- 68. Horwitz, M. S. Function of adenovirus E3 proteins and their interactions with immunoregulatory cell proteins. J Gene Med, *6 Suppl 1:* S172-183, 2004.
- 69. Rawle, F. C., Tollefson, A. E., Wold, W. S., and Gooding, L. R. Mouse anti-adenovirus cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Inhibition of lysis by E3 gp19K but not E3 14.7K. J Immunol, *143*: 2031-2037, 1989.
- 70. Schowalter, D. B., Tubb, J. C., Liu, M., Wilson, C. B., and Kay, M. A. Heterologous expression of adenovirus E3-gp19K in an E1a-deleted adenovirus vector inhibits MHC I expression in vitro, but does not prolong transgene expression in vivo. Gene Ther, *4*: 351-360, 1997.
- 71. Wold, W. S. Adenovirus genes that modulate the sensitivity of virus-infected cells to lysis by TNF. J Cell Biochem, *53*: 329-335, 1993.
- 72. Tollefson, A. E., Ryerse, J. S., Scaria, A., Hermiston, T. W., and Wold, W. S. The E3-11.6-kDa adenovirus death protein (ADP) is required for efficient cell death: characterization of cells infected with adp mutants. Virology, *220*: 152-162, 1996.
- 73. Halbert, D. N., Cutt, J. R., and Shenk, T. Adenovirus early region 4 encodes functions required for efficient DNA replication, late gene expression, and host cell shutoff. J Virol, *56*: 250-257, 1985.
- 74. Bridge, E. and Ketner, G. Redundant control of adenovirus late gene expression by early region 4. J Virol, *63*: 631-638, 1989.
- 75. Bridge, E. and Ketner, G. Interaction of adenoviral E4 and E1b products in late gene expression. Virology, *174:* 345-353, 1990.
- 76. Goodrum, F. D. and Ornelles, D. A. Roles for the E4 orf6, orf3, and E1B 55-kilodalton proteins in cell cycle-independent adenovirus replication. J Virol, *73:* 7474-7488, 1999.
- 77. Edelstein, M. Journal of Gene Medicine Clinical trial Website. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., 2005.
- 78. Graham, F. L., Smiley, J., Russell, W. C., and Nairn, R. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. J Gen Virol, *36*: 59-74, 1977.
- 79. Li, J. Z., Holman, D., Li, H., Liu, A. H., Beres, B., Hankins, G. R., and Helm, G. A. Long-term tracing of adenoviral expression in rat and rabbit using luciferase imaging. J Gene Med, *7*: 792-802, 2005.
- Hehir, K. M., Armentano, D., Cardoza, L. M., Choquette, T. L., Berthelette, P. B., White, G. A., Couture, L. A., Everton, M. B., Keegan, J., Martin, J. M., Pratt, D. A., Smith, M. P., Smith, A. E., and Wadsworth, S. C. Molecular characterization of replication-competent variants of adenovirus vectors and genome modifications to prevent their occurrence. J Virol, *70*: 8459-8467, 1996.
- 81. Immonen, A., Vapalahti, M., Tyynela, K., Hurskainen, H., Sandmair, A., Vanninen, R., Langford, G., Murray, N., and Yla-Herttuala, S. AdvHSV-tk gene therapy with intravenous ganciclovir improves survival in human malignant glioma: a randomised, controlled study. Mol Ther, *10*: 967-972, 2004.
- Sullivan, N. J., Geisbert, T. W., Geisbert, J. B., Xu, L., Yang, Z. Y., Roederer, M., Koup, R. A., Jahrling, P. B., and Nabel, G. J. Accelerated vaccination for Ebola virus haemorrhagic fever in non-human primates. Nature, 424: 681-684, 2003.
- 83. Gao, G. P., Yang, Y., and Wilson, J. M. Biology of adenovirus vectors with E1 and E4 deletions for liver-directed gene therapy. J Virol, *70:* 8934-8943, 1996.
- 84. Lusky, M., Christ, M., Rittner, K., Dieterle, A., Dreyer, D., Mourot, B., Schultz, H., Stoeckel, F., Pavirani, A., and Mehtali, M. In vitro and in vivo biology of recombinant adenovirus vectors with E1, E1/E2A, or E1/E4 deleted. J Virol, *72*: 2022-2032, 1998.
- 85. Armentano, D., Zabner, J., Sacks, C., Sookdeo, C. C., Smith, M. P., St George, J. A., Wadsworth, S. C., Smith, A. E., and Gregory, R. J. Effect of the E4 region on the persistence of transgene expression from adenovirus vectors. J Virol, *71:* 2408-2416, 1997.

- 86. Brough, D. E., Hsu, C., Kulesa, V. A., Lee, G. M., Cantolupo, L. J., Lizonova, A., and Kovesdi, I. Activation of transgene expression by early region 4 is responsible for a high level of persistent transgene expression from adenovirus vectors in vivo. J Virol, *71*: 9206-9213, 1997.
- 87. Armentano, D., Smith, M. P., Sookdeo, C. C., Zabner, J., Perricone, M. A., St George, J. A., Wadsworth, S. C., and Gregory, R. J. E4ORF3 requirement for achieving long-term transgene expression from the cytomegalovirus promoter in adenovirus vectors. J Virol, *73*: 7031-7034, 1999.
- Lusky, M., Grave, L., Dieterle, A., Dreyer, D., Christ, M., Ziller, C., Furstenberger, P., Kintz, J., Hadji, D. A., Pavirani, A., and Mehtali, M. Regulation of adenovirus-mediated transgene expression by the viral E4 gene products: requirement for E4 ORF3. J Virol, *73*: 8308-8319, 1999.
- 89. Kochanek, S., Clemens, P. R., Mitani, K., Chen, H. H., Chan, S., and Caskey, C. T. A new adenoviral vector: Replacement of all viral coding sequences with 28 kb of DNA independently expressing both full-length dystrophin and beta-galactosidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, *93:* 5731-5736, 1996.
- 90. Ng, P., Evelegh, C., Cummings, D., and Graham, F. L. Cre levels limit packaging signal excision efficiency in the Cre/loxP helper-dependent adenoviral vector system. J Virol, *76*: 4181-4189, 2002.
- 91. Parks, R. J., Bramson, J. L., Wan, Y., Addison, C. L., and Graham, F. L. Effects of stuffer DNA on transgene expression from helper-dependent adenovirus vectors. J Virol, *73*: 8027-8034, 1999.
- 92. Morral, N., O'Neal, W., Rice, K., Leland, M., Kaplan, J., Piedra, P. A., Zhou, H., Parks, R. J., Velji, R., Aguilar-Cordova, E., Wadsworth, S., Graham, F. L., Kochanek, S., Carey, K. D., and Beaudet, A. L. Administration of helper-dependent adenoviral vectors and sequential delivery of different vector serotype for long-term liver-directed gene transfer in baboons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, *96:* 12816-12821, 1999.
- 93. Kreppel, F. and Kochanek, S. Long-term transgene expression in proliferating cells mediated by episomally maintained high-capacity adenovirus vectors. J Virol, *78:* 9-22, 2004.
- 94. Brunetti-Pierri, N., Palmer, D. J., Beaudet, A. L., Carey, K. D., Finegold, M., and Ng, P. Acute toxicity after high-dose systemic injection of helper-dependent adenoviral vectors into nonhuman primates. Hum Gene Ther, *15*: 35-46, 2004.
- Bang, F. F., Bruner, J. M., Fuller, G. N., Aldape, K., Prados, M. D., Chang, S., Berger, M. S., McDermott, M. W., Kunwar, S. M., Junck, L. R., Chandler, W., Zwiebel, J. A., Kaplan, R. S., and Yung, W. K. Phase I trial of adenovirus-mediated p53 gene therapy for recurrent glioma: biological and clinical results. J Clin Oncol, *21*: 2508-2518, 2003.
- 96. Cawood, R., Chen, H. H., Carroll, F., Bazan-Peregrino, M., van Rooijen, N., and Seymour, L. W. Use of tissue-specific microRNA to control pathology of wild-type adenovirus without attenuation of its ability to kill cancer cells. PLoS Pathog, *5*: e1000440, 2009.
- 97. Ylosmaki, E., Hakkarainen, T., Hemminki, A., Visakorpi, T., Andino, R., and Saksela, K. Generation of a conditionally replicating adenovirus based on targeted destruction of E1A mRNA by a cell type-specific MicroRNA. J Virol, *82*: 11009-11015, 2008.
- 98. Ohgaki, H., Dessen, P., Jourde, B., Horstmann, S., Nishikawa, T., Di Patre, P. L., Burkhard, C., Schuler, D., Probst-Hensch, N. M., Maiorka, P. C., Baeza, N., Pisani, P., Yonekawa, Y., Yasargil, M. G., Lutolf, U. M., and Kleihues, P. Genetic pathways to glioblastoma: a population-based study. Cancer Res, 64: 6892-6899, 2004.
- 99. Bischoff, J. R., Kirn, D. H., Williams, A., Heise, C., Horn, S., Muna, M., Ng, L., Nye, J. A., Sampson-Johannes, A., Fattaey, A., and McCormick, F. An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53-deficient human tumor cells. Science, *274:* 373-376, 1996.
- 100. Geoerger, B., Grill, J., Opolon, P., Morizet, J., Aubert, G., Terrier-Lacombe, M. J., Bressac De-Paillerets, B., Barrois, M., Feunteun, J., Kirn, D. H., and Vassal, G. Oncolytic activity of the E1B-55 kDa-deleted adenovirus ONYX-015 is independent of cellular p53 status in human malignant glioma xenografts. Cancer Res, *62*: 764-772, 2002.
- 101. Kirn, D. Clinical research results with dl1520 (Onyx-015), a replication-selective adenovirus for the treatment of cancer: what have we learned? Gene Ther, *8*: 89-98, 2001.
- 102. Khuri, F. R., Nemunaitis, J., Ganly, I., Arseneau, J., Tannock, I. F., Romel, L., Gore, M., Ironside, J., MacDougall, R. H., Heise, C., Randlev, B., Gillenwater, A. M., Bruso, P., Kaye, S. B., Hong, W. K., and Kirn, D. H. a controlled trial of intratumoral ONYX-015, a selectively-replicating adenovirus, in

combination with cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil in patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. Nat Med, *6*: 879-885, 2000.

- 103. Wickham, T. J., Segal, D. M., Roelvink, P. W., Carrion, M. E., Lizonova, A., Lee, G. M., and Kovesdi, I. Targeted adenovirus gene transfer to endothelial and smooth muscle cells by using bispecific antibodies. J Virol, *70:* 6831-6838, 1996.
- 104. Latham, J. P., Searle, P. F., Mautner, V., and James, N. D. Prostate-specific antigen promoter/enhancer driven gene therapy for prostate cancer: construction and testing of a tissue-specific adenovirus vector. Cancer Res, *60*: 334-341, 2000.
- 105. Mario Fernandez, N. L. Tumor/tissue-selective promoters. *In:* Vector Targeting for Therapeutic Gene Delivery. Hoboken, New Yersey: Wiley-Liss Inc., 2002.
- 106. Ueda, K., Iwahashi, M., Nakamori, M., Nakamura, M., Yamaue, H., and Tanimura, H. Enhanced selective gene expression by adenovirus vector using Cre/loxP regulation system for human carcinoembryonic antigen-producing carcinoma. Oncology, *59*: 255-265, 2000.
- 107. Kijima, T., Osaki, T., Nishino, K., Kumagai, T., Funakoshi, T., Goto, H., Tachibana, I., Tanio, Y., and Kishimoto, T. Application of the Cre recombinase/loxP system further enhances antitumor effects in cell type-specific gene therapy against carcinoembryonic antigen-producing cancer. Cancer Res, *59:* 4906-4911, 1999.
- 108. Bartel, D. P. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell, *116*: 281-297, 2004.
- 109. Griffiths-Jones, S., Saini, H. K., van Dongen, S., and Enright, A. J. miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. Nucleic Acids Res, *36*: D154-158, 2008.
- 110. Calin, G. A. and Croce, C. M. MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer, *6*: 857-866, 2006.
- 111. Esquela-Kerscher, A. and Slack, F. J. Oncomirs microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, *6:* 259-269, 2006.
- 112. Braconi, C. and Patel, T. MicroRNA expression profiling: a molecular tool for defining the phenotype of hepatocellular tumors. Hepatology, *47:* 1807-1809, 2008.
- 113. Ladeiro, Y., Couchy, G., Balabaud, C., Bioulac-Sage, P., Pelletier, L., Rebouissou, S., and Zucman-Rossi, J. MicroRNA profiling in hepatocellular tumors is associated with clinical features and oncogene/tumor suppressor gene mutations. Hepatology, *47*: 1955-1963, 2008.
- 114. Mott, J. L. MicroRNAs involved in tumor suppressor and oncogene pathways: implications for hepatobiliary neoplasia. Hepatology, *50*: 630-637, 2009.
- 115. Murakami, Y., Yasuda, T., Saigo, K., Urashima, T., Toyoda, H., Okanoue, T., and Shimotohno, K. Comprehensive analysis of microRNA expression patterns in hepatocellular carcinoma and non-tumorous tissues. Oncogene, *25*: 2537-2545, 2006.
- 116. Kutay, H., Bai, S., Datta, J., Motiwala, T., Pogribny, I., Frankel, W., Jacob, S. T., and Ghoshal, K. Downregulation of miR-122 in the rodent and human hepatocellular carcinomas. J Cell Biochem, *99:* 671-678, 2006.
- 117. Meng, F., Henson, R., Wehbe-Janek, H., Ghoshal, K., Jacob, S. T., and Patel, T. MicroRNA-21 regulates expression of the PTEN tumor suppressor gene in human hepatocellular cancer. Gastroenterology, *133*: 647-658, 2007.
- 118. Gramantieri, L., Ferracin, M., Fornari, F., Veronese, A., Sabbioni, S., Liu, C. G., Calin, G. A., Giovannini, C., Ferrazzi, E., Grazi, G. L., Croce, C. M., Bolondi, L., and Negrini, M. Cyclin G1 is a target of miR-122a, a microRNA frequently down-regulated in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res, *67*: 6092-6099, 2007.
- 119. Huang, Y. S., Dai, Y., Yu, X. F., Bao, S. Y., Yin, Y. B., Tang, M., and Hu, C. X. Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in hepatocellular carcinoma and non-tumorous tissues without viral hepatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, *23*: 87-94, 2008.
- 120. Wang, Y., Lee, A. T., Ma, J. Z., Wang, J., Ren, J., Yang, Y., Tantoso, E., Li, K. B., Ooi, L. L., Tan, P., and Lee, C. G. Profiling microRNA expression in hepatocellular carcinoma reveals microRNA-224 up-regulation and apoptosis inhibitor-5 as a microRNA-224-specific target. J Biol Chem, *283:* 13205-13215, 2008.
- 121. Fornari, F., Gramantieri, L., Giovannini, C., Veronese, A., Ferracin, M., Sabbioni, S., Calin, G. A., Grazi, G. L., Croce, C. M., Tavolari, S., Chieco, P., Negrini, M., and Bolondi, L. MiR-122/cyclin G1 interaction modulates p53 activity and affects doxorubicin sensitivity of human hepatocarcinoma cells. Cancer Res, *69*: 5761-5767, 2009.
- 122. Jiang, J., Gusev, Y., Aderca, I., Mettler, T. A., Nagorney, D. M., Brackett, D. J., Roberts, L. R., and Schmittgen, T. D. Association of MicroRNA expression in hepatocellular carcinomas with hepatitis infection, cirrhosis, and patient survival. Clin Cancer Res, *14*: 419-427, 2008.
- 123. Varnholt, H., Drebber, U., Schulze, F., Wedemeyer, I., Schirmacher, P., Dienes, H. P., and Odenthal, M. MicroRNA gene expression profile of hepatitis C virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology, *47*: 1223-1232, 2008.
- 124. Yamamoto, Y., Kosaka, N., Tanaka, M., Koizumi, F., Kanai, Y., Mizutani, T., Murakami, Y., Kuroda, M., Miyajima, A., Kato, T., and Ochiya, T. MicroRNA-500 as a potential diagnostic marker for hepatocellular carcinoma. Biomarkers, *14:* 529-538, 2009.
- 125. Su, H., Yang, J. R., Xu, T., Huang, J., Xu, L., Yuan, Y., and Zhuang, S. M. MicroRNA-101, downregulated in hepatocellular carcinoma, promotes apoptosis and suppresses tumorigenicity. Cancer Res, *69*: 1135-1142, 2009.
- 126. Wong, Q. W., Ching, A. K., Chan, A. W., Choy, K. W., To, K. F., Lai, P. B., and Wong, N. MiR-222 overexpression confers cell migratory advantages in hepatocellular carcinoma through enhancing AKT signaling. Clin Cancer Res, *16*: 867-875, 2010.
- 127. Wong, C. C., Wong, C. M., Tung, E. K., Au, S. L., Lee, J. M., Poon, R. T., Man, K., and Ng, I. O. The microRNA miR-139 suppresses metastasis and progression of hepatocellular carcinoma by down-regulating Rho-kinase 2. Gastroenterology, *140*: 322-331, 2011.
- 128. Kota, J., Chivukula, R. R., O'Donnell, K. A., Wentzel, E. A., Montgomery, C. L., Hwang, H. W., Chang, T. C., Vivekanandan, P., Torbenson, M., Clark, K. R., Mendell, J. R., and Mendell, J. T. Therapeutic microRNA delivery suppresses tumorigenesis in a murine liver cancer model. Cell, *137*: 1005-1017, 2009.
- 129. Ji, J., Shi, J., Budhu, A., Yu, Z., Forgues, M., Roessler, S., Ambs, S., Chen, Y., Meltzer, P. S., Croce, C. M., Qin, L. X., Man, K., Lo, C. M., Lee, J., Ng, I. O., Fan, J., Tang, Z. Y., Sun, H. C., and Wang, X. W. MicroRNA expression, survival, and response to interferon in liver cancer. N Engl J Med, *361:* 1437-1447, 2009.
- 130. Wang, Y., Sheng, G., Juranek, S., Tuschl, T., and Patel, D. J. Structure of the guide-strand-containing argonaute silencing complex. Nature, *456:* 209-213, 2008.
- 131. Ichimi, T., Enokida, H., Okuno, Y., Kunimoto, R., Chiyomaru, T., Kawamoto, K., Kawahara, K., Toki, K., Kawakami, K., Nishiyama, K., Tsujimoto, G., Nakagawa, M., and Seki, N. Identification of novel microRNA targets based on microRNA signatures in bladder cancer. Int J Cancer, *125:* 345-352, 2009.
- Iorio, M. V., Visone, R., Di Leva, G., Donati, V., Petrocca, F., Casalini, P., Taccioli, C., Volinia, S., Liu, C. G., Alder, H., Calin, G. A., Menard, S., and Croce, C. M. MicroRNA signatures in human ovarian cancer. Cancer Res, *67*: 8699-8707, 2007.
- 133. Kim, S., Lee, U. J., Kim, M. N., Lee, E. J., Kim, J. Y., Lee, M. Y., Choung, S., Kim, Y. J., and Choi, Y. C. MicroRNA miR-199a* regulates the MET proto-oncogene and the downstream extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 (ERK2). J Biol Chem, *283*: 18158-18166, 2008.
- 134. Fornari, F., Milazzo, M., Chieco, P., Negrini, M., Calin, G. A., Grazi, G. L., Pollutri, D., Croce, C. M., Bolondi, L., and Gramantieri, L. MiR-199a-3p regulates mTOR and c-Met to influence the doxorubicin sensitivity of human hepatocarcinoma cells. Cancer Res, *70:* 5184-5193, 2010.
- 135. Ford, C. E., Lau, S. K., Zhu, C. Q., Andersson, T., Tsao, M. S., and Vogel, W. F. Expression and mutation analysis of the discoidin domain receptors 1 and 2 in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Br J Cancer, *96*: 808-814, 2007.
- 136. Johnson, J. D., Edman, J. C., and Rutter, W. J. A receptor tyrosine kinase found in breast carcinoma cells has an extracellular discoidin I-like domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, *90:* 10891, 1993.

- 137. Laval, S., Butler, R., Shelling, A. N., Hanby, A. M., Poulsom, R., and Ganesan, T. S. Isolation and characterization of an epithelial-specific receptor tyrosine kinase from an ovarian cancer cell line. Cell Growth Differ, *5*: 1173-1183, 1994.
- 138. Park, H. S., Kim, K. R., Lee, H. J., Choi, H. N., Kim, D. K., Kim, B. T., and Moon, W. S. Overexpression of discoidin domain receptor 1 increases the migration and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells in association with matrix metalloproteinase. Oncol Rep, *18*: 1435-1441, 2007.
- 139. Vogel, W. F., Aszodi, A., Alves, F., and Pawson, T. Discoidin domain receptor 1 tyrosine kinase has an essential role in mammary gland development. Mol Cell Biol, *21:* 2906-2917, 2001.
- 140. Shen, Q., Cicinnati, V. R., Zhang, X., Iacob, S., Weber, F., Sotiropoulos, G. C., Radtke, A., Lu, M., Paul, A., Gerken, G., and Beckebaum, S. Role of microRNA-199a-5p and discoidin domain receptor 1 in human hepatocellular carcinoma invasion. Mol Cancer, *9*: 227, 2010.
- Li, J., French, B., Wu, Y., Vanketesh, R., Montgomery, R., Bardag-Gorce, F., Kitto, J., and French, S.
 W. Liver hypoxia and lack of recovery after reperfusion at high blood alcohol levels in the intragastric feeding model of alcohol liver disease. Exp Mol Pathol, *77*: 184-192, 2004.
- 142. Yeligar, S., Tsukamoto, H., and Kalra, V. K. Ethanol-induced expression of ET-1 and ET-BR in liver sinusoidal endothelial cells and human endothelial cells involves hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and microrNA-199. J Immunol, *183*: 5232-5243, 2009.
- 143. Honda, M., Rijnbrand, R., Abell, G., Kim, D., and Lemon, S. M. Natural variation in translational activities of the 5' nontranslated RNAs of hepatitis C virus genotypes 1a and 1b: evidence for a long-range RNA-RNA interaction outside of the internal ribosomal entry site. J Virol, *73:* 4941-4951, 1999.
- 144. Murakami, Y., Aly, H. H., Tajima, A., Inoue, I., and Shimotohno, K. Regulation of the hepatitis C virus genome replication by miR-199a. J Hepatol, *50*: 453-460, 2009.
- 145. Zhang, G. L., Li, Y. X., Zheng, S. Q., Liu, M., Li, X., and Tang, H. Suppression of hepatitis B virus replication by microRNA-199a-3p and microRNA-210. Antiviral Res, *88:* 169-175, 2010.
- 146. Brown, B. D., Venneri, M. A., Zingale, A., Sergi Sergi, L., and Naldini, L. Endogenous microRNA regulation suppresses transgene expression in hematopoietic lineages and enables stable gene transfer. Nat Med, *12*: 585-591, 2006.
- 147. Perez, J. T., Pham, A. M., Lorini, M. H., Chua, M. A., Steel, J., and tenOever, B. R. MicroRNAmediated species-specific attenuation of influenza A virus. Nat Biotechnol, *27*: 572-576, 2009.
- 148. Barnes, D., Kunitomi, M., Vignuzzi, M., Saksela, K., and Andino, R. Harnessing endogenous miRNAs to control virus tissue tropism as a strategy for developing attenuated virus vaccines. Cell Host Microbe, *4*: 239-248, 2008.
- 149. Kelly, E. J., Nace, R., Barber, G. N., and Russell, S. J. Attenuation of vesicular stomatitis virus encephalitis through microRNA targeting. J Virol, *84:* 1550-1562, 2010.
- 150. Edge, R. E., Falls, T. J., Brown, C. W., Lichty, B. D., Atkins, H., and Bell, J. C. A let-7 MicroRNAsensitive vesicular stomatitis virus demonstrates tumor-specific replication. Mol Ther, *16:* 1437-1443, 2008.
- 151. Lee, C. Y., Rennie, P. S., and Jia, W. W. MicroRNA regulation of oncolytic herpes simplex virus-1 for selective killing of prostate cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res, *15:* 5126-5135, 2009.
- 152. Parkin, D. M., Bray, F., Ferlay, J., and Pisani, P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin, 55: 74-108, 2005.
- 153. Cervantes-Garcia, D., Ortiz-Lopez, R., Mayek-Perez, N., and Rojas-Martinez, A. Oncolytic virotherapy. Ann Hepatol, *7*: 34-45, 2008.
- 154. Khuri, F. R. and Jain, S. R. Novel agents and incremental advances in the treatment of head and neck cancer. Semin Oncol, *31*: 3-10, 2004.
- 155. Landy, A. Dynamic, structural, and regulatory aspects of lambda site-specific recombination. Annu Rev Biochem, *58*: 913-949, 1989.
- 156. Parkin, D. M. Global cancer statistics in the year 2000. Lancet Oncol, 2: 533-543, 2001.
- 157. Llovet, J. M., Fuster, J., and Bruix, J. The Barcelona approach: diagnosis, staging, and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Transpl, *10:* S115-120, 2004.

- 158. Broelsch, C. E., Frilling, A., and Malago, M. Hepatoma--resection or transplantation. Surg Clin North Am, *84*: 495-511, x, 2004.
- 159. Forner, A., Hessheimer, A. J., Isabel Real, M., and Bruix, J. Treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, *60:* 89-98, 2006.
- 160. Mazzaferro, V., Regalia, E., Doci, R., Andreola, S., Pulvirenti, A., Bozzetti, F., Montalto, F., Ammatuna, M., Morabito, A., and Gennari, L. Liver transplantation for the treatment of small hepatocellular carcinomas in patients with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med, *334:* 693-699, 1996.
- 161. Bismuth, H., Majno, P. E., and Adam, R. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Liver Dis, *19:* 311-322, 1999.
- 162. Llovet, J. M., Fuster, J., and Bruix, J. Intention-to-treat analysis of surgical treatment for early hepatocellular carcinoma: resection versus transplantation. Hepatology, *30:* 1434-1440, 1999.
- 163. Jonas, S., Herrmann, M., Rayes, N., Berg, T., Radke, C., Tullius, S., Settmacher, U., Steinmuller, T., and Neuhaus, P. Survival after liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis according to the underlying liver disease. Transplant Proc, *33*: 3444-3445, 2001.
- 164. Cormier, J. N., Thomas, K. T., Chari, R. S., and Pinson, C. W. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg, *10:* 761-780, 2006.
- Abou-Alfa, G. K., Schwartz, L., Ricci, S., Amadori, D., Santoro, A., Figer, A., De Greve, J., Douillard, J.
 Y., Lathia, C., Schwartz, B., Taylor, I., Moscovici, M., and Saltz, L. B. Phase II study of sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol, *24*: 4293-4300, 2006.
- 166. Llovet, J. M., S., R., V., M., and al., e. Randomized phase III trial of sorafenib versus placebo in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). J Clin Oncol, *25:* LBA1, 2007.
- 167. Rajecki, M., Kanerva, A., Stenman, U. H., Tenhunen, M., Kangasniemi, L., Sarkioja, M., Ala-Opas, M. Y., Alfthan, H., Sankila, A., Rintala, E., Desmond, R. A., Hakkarainen, T., and Hemminki, A. Treatment of prostate cancer with Ad5/3Delta24hCG allows non-invasive detection of the magnitude and persistence of virus replication in vivo. Mol Cancer Ther, *6*: 742-751, 2007.
- 168. Bauerschmitz, G. J., Kanerva, A., Wang, M., Herrmann, I., Shaw, D. R., Strong, T. V., Desmond, R., Rein, D. T., Dall, P., Curiel, D. T., and Hemminki, A. Evaluation of a selectively oncolytic adenovirus for local and systemic treatment of cervical cancer. Int J Cancer, *111*: 303-309, 2004.
- 169. Ranki, T., Sarkioja, M., Hakkarainen, T., von Smitten, K., Kanerva, A., and Hemminki, A. Systemic efficacy of oncolytic adenoviruses in imagable orthotopic models of hormone refractory metastatic breast cancer. Int J Cancer, *121*: 165-174, 2007.
- 170. Kanerva, A., Zinn, K. R., Chaudhuri, T. R., Lam, J. T., Suzuki, K., Uil, T. G., Hakkarainen, T., Bauerschmitz, G. J., Wang, M., Liu, B., Cao, Z., Alvarez, R. D., Curiel, D. T., and Hemminki, A. Enhanced therapeutic efficacy for ovarian cancer with a serotype 3 receptor-targeted oncolytic adenovirus. Mol Ther, *8:* 449-458, 2003.
- 171. Yu, W. and Fang, H. Clinical trials with oncolytic adenovirus in China. Curr Cancer Drug Targets, *7:* 141-148, 2007.
- 172. Small, E. J., Carducci, M. A., Burke, J. M., Rodriguez, R., Fong, L., van Ummersen, L., Yu, D. C., Aimi, J., Ando, D., Working, P., Kirn, D., and Wilding, G. A phase I trial of intravenous CG7870, a replication-selective, prostate-specific antigen-targeted oncolytic adenovirus, for the treatment of hormone-refractory, metastatic prostate cancer. Mol Ther, *14*: 107-117, 2006.
- 173. Chen, Y., DeWeese, T., Dilley, J., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Ramesh, N., Lee, J., Pennathur-Das, R., Radzyminski, J., Wypych, J., Brignetti, D., Scott, S., Stephens, J., Karpf, D. B., Henderson, D. R., and Yu, D. C. CV706, a prostate cancer-specific adenovirus variant, in combination with radiotherapy produces synergistic antitumor efficacy without increasing toxicity. Cancer Res, *61:* 5453-5460, 2001.
- 174. DeWeese, T. L., van der Poel, H., Li, S., Mikhak, B., Drew, R., Goemann, M., Hamper, U., DeJong, R., Detorie, N., Rodriguez, R., Haulk, T., DeMarzo, A. M., Piantadosi, S., Yu, D. C., Chen, Y., Henderson, D. R., Carducci, M. A., Nelson, W. G., and Simons, J. W. A phase I trial of CV706, a replication-competent, PSA selective oncolytic adenovirus, for the treatment of locally recurrent prostate cancer following radiation therapy. Cancer Res, *61*: 7464-7472, 2001.

- 175. Kanerva, A., Mikheeva, G. V., Krasnykh, V., Coolidge, C. J., Lam, J. T., Mahasreshti, P. J., Barker, S. D., Straughn, M., Barnes, M. N., Alvarez, R. D., Hemminki, A., and Curiel, D. T. Targeting adenovirus to the serotype 3 receptor increases gene transfer efficiency to ovarian cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res, *8*: 275-280, 2002.
- 176. Silver, J. and Mei, Y. F. Transduction and oncolytic profile of a potent replication-competent adenovirus 11p vector (RCAd11pGFP) in colon carcinoma cells. PLoS One, *6*: e17532, 2011.
- 177. Lamfers, M. L., Idema, S., Bosscher, L., Heukelom, S., Moeniralm, S., van der Meulen-Muileman, I. H., Overmeer, R. M., van der Valk, P., van Beusechem, V. W., Gerritsen, W. R., Vandertop, W. P., and Dirven, C. M. Differential effects of combined Ad5- delta 24RGD and radiation therapy in in vitro versus in vivo models of malignant glioma. Clin Cancer Res, *13*: 7451-7458, 2007.
- 178. Lamfers, M. L., Grill, J., Dirven, C. M., Van Beusechem, V. W., Geoerger, B., Van Den Berg, J., Alemany, R., Fueyo, J., Curiel, D. T., Vassal, G., Pinedo, H. M., Vandertop, W. P., and Gerritsen, W. R. Potential of the conditionally replicative adenovirus Ad5-Delta24RGD in the treatment of malignant gliomas and its enhanced effect with radiotherapy. Cancer Res, *62*: 5736-5742, 2002.
- 179. Ulasov, I. V., Sonabend, A. M., Nandi, S., Khramtsov, A., Han, Y., and Lesniak, M. S. Combination of adenoviral virotherapy and temozolomide chemotherapy eradicates malignant glioma through autophagic and apoptotic cell death in vivo. Br J Cancer, *100:* 1154-1164, 2009.
- 180. Nemunaitis, J., Tong, A. W., Nemunaitis, M., Senzer, N., Phadke, A. P., Bedell, C., Adams, N., Zhang, Y. A., Maples, P. B., Chen, S., Pappen, B., Burke, J., Ichimaru, D., Urata, Y., and Fujiwara, T. A phase I study of telomerase-specific replication competent oncolytic adenovirus (telomelysin) for various solid tumors. Mol Ther, 18: 429-434, 2010.
- 181. Li, J. L., Liu, H. L., Zhang, X. R., Xu, J. P., Hu, W. K., Liang, M., Chen, S. Y., Hu, F., and Chu, D. T. A phase I trial of intratumoral administration of recombinant oncolytic adenovirus overexpressing HSP70 in advanced solid tumor patients. Gene Ther, *16*: 376-382, 2009.
- 182. Freytag, S. O., Movsas, B., Aref, I., Stricker, H., Peabody, J., Pegg, J., Zhang, Y., Barton, K. N., Brown, S. L., Lu, M., Savera, A., and Kim, J. H. Phase I trial of replication-competent adenovirus-mediated suicide gene therapy combined with IMRT for prostate cancer. Mol Ther, *15:* 1016-1023, 2007.
- 183. Post, D. E., Khuri, F. R., Simons, J. W., and Van Meir, E. G. Replicative oncolytic adenoviruses in multimodal cancer regimens. Hum Gene Ther, *14*: 933-946, 2003.
- 184. Chen, W., Wu, Y., Liu, W., Wang, G., Wang, X., Yang, Y., Tai, Y., Lu, M., Qian, Q., Zhang, Q., and Chen, G. Enhanced antitumor efficacy of a novel fiber chimeric oncolytic adenovirus expressing p53 on hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett, *307*: 93-103, 2011.
- 185. Ganly, I., Kirn, D., Eckhardt, G., Rodriguez, G. I., Soutar, D. S., Otto, R., Robertson, A. G., Park, O., Gulley, M. L., Heise, C., Von Hoff, D. D., and Kaye, S. B. A phase I study of Onyx-015, an E1B attenuated adenovirus, administered intratumorally to patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. Clin Cancer Res, *6*: 798-806, 2000.
- 186. Opyrchal, M., Aderca, I., and Galanis, E. Phase I clinical trial of locoregional administration of the oncolytic adenovirus ONYX-015 in combination with mitomycin-C, doxorubicin, and cisplatin chemotherapy in patients with advanced sarcomas. Methods Mol Biol, *542*: 705-717, 2009.
- 187. Brown, B. D., Gentner, B., Cantore, A., Colleoni, S., Amendola, M., Zingale, A., Baccarini, A., Lazzari, G., Galli, C., and Naldini, L. Endogenous microRNA can be broadly exploited to regulate transgene expression according to tissue, lineage and differentiation state. Nat Biotechnol, 25: 1457-1467, 2007.
- 188. Fu, X., Rivera, A., Tao, L., De Geest, B., and Zhang, X. Construction of an oncolytic herpes simplex virus that precisely targets hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Mol Ther, *20:* 339-346, 2012.
- 189. Hardy, B., Globerson, A., and Danon, D. Ontogenic development of the reactivity of macrophages to antigenic stimulation. Cell Immunol, *9:* 282-288, 1973.
- 190. Bell, J. C. and Kirn, D. MicroRNAs fine-tune oncolytic viruses. Nat Biotechnol, *26:* 1346-1348, 2008.
- 191. Brown, B. D. and Naldini, L. Exploiting and antagonizing microRNA regulation for therapeutic and experimental applications. Nat Rev Genet, *10:* 578-585, 2009.
- 192. Kelly, E. J. and Russell, S. J. MicroRNAs and the regulation of vector tropism. Mol Ther, *17*: 409-416, 2009.

Dichiarazione di conformità

Il tuo indirizzo e-mail

khlbld@unife.it

Oggetto:

Dichiarazione di conformità della tesi di Dottorato

Io sottoscritto Dott. (Cognome e Nome)

Khalid Elamin Elhag Baha Eldin

Nato a:

Omdurman

Provincia:

Sudan

Il giorno:

01/01/1975

Avendo frequentato il Dottorato di Ricerca in:

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN BIOCHIMICA, BIOLOGIA MOLECOLARE E BIOTECNOLOGIE

Ciclo di Dottorato

24

Titolo della tesi (in lingua italiana):

Regolazione della replicazione adenovirale da parte del miR-199 conferisce attività oncolitica selettiva in carcinoma epatocellulare

Titolo della tesi (in lingua inglese):

Regulation of adenovirus replication by miR-199 confers a selective oncolytic activity in hepatocellular carcinoma

Tutore: Prof. (Cognome e Nome)

Sabbioni Silvia

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare (S.S.D.)

BIO/19

Parole chiave della tesi (max 10):

Adenovirus, Virotherapy, microRNA, HCC

Consapevole, dichiara

CONSAPEVOLE: (1) del fatto che in caso di dichiarazioni mendaci, oltre alle sanzioni previste dal codice penale e dalle Leggi speciali per l'ipotesi di falsità in atti ed uso di atti falsi, decade fin dall'inizio e senza necessità di alcuna formalità dai benefici conseguenti al provvedimento emanato sulla base di tali dichiarazioni; (2) dell'obbligo per l'Università di provvedere al deposito di legge delle tesi di dottorato al fine di assicurarne la conservazione e la consultabilità da parte di terzi; (3) della procedura adottata dall'Università di Ferrara ove si richiede che la tesi sia consegnata dal dottorando in 2 copie, di cui una in formato cartaceo e una in formato pdf non modificabile su idonei supporti (CD-ROM, DVD) secondo le istruzioni pubblicate sul sito : http://www.unife.it/studenti/dottorato alla voce ESAME FINALE – disposizioni e modulistica; (4) del fatto che l'Università, sulla base dei dati forniti, archivierà e renderà consultabile in rete il testo completo della tesi di dottorato di cui alla presente dichiarazione attraverso l'Archivio istituzionale ad accesso aperto "EPRINTS.unife.it" oltre che attraverso i Cataloghi delle Biblioteche Nazionali Centrali di Roma e Firenze. DICHIARO SOTTO LA MIA RESPONSABILITA': (1) che la copia della tesi depositata presso l'Università di Ferrara in formato cartaceo è del tutto identica a quella presentata in formato elettronico (CD-ROM, DVD), a quelle da inviare ai Commissari di esame finale e alla copia che produrrà in seduta d'esame finale. Di conseguenza va esclusa qualsiasi responsabilità dell'Ateneo stesso per quanto riguarda eventuali errori, imprecisioni o omissioni nei contenuti della tesi; (2) di prendere atto che la tesi in formato cartaceo è l'unica alla quale farà riferimento l'Università per rilasciare, a mia richiesta, la dichiarazione di conformità di eventuali copie. PER ACCETTAZIONE DI QUANTO SOPRA RIPORTATO

Dichiarazione per embargo

12 mesi

Richiesta motivata embargo

1. Tesi in corso di pubblicazione

Liberatoria consultazione dati Eprints

Consapevole del fatto che attraverso l'Archivio istituzionale ad accesso aperto "EPRINTS.unife.it" saranno comunque accessibili i metadati relativi alla tesi (titolo, autore, abstract, ecc.)

Firma del dottorando

Ferrara, li _01/03/2012 Firma del Dottorando Khalid Elamin Elhag Baha Eldin

Firma del Tutore

Visto: Il Tutore Si approva Firma del Tutore Sabbioni Silvia